

University of Thessaly Department of Physical Education and Sport Sciences

A Qualitative Study of Athletes' Gained Life Skills in Retrospect

by

Bernadette Ramaker

The present thesis is submitted as Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of European Master of Sport and Exercise Psychology at The University of Thessaly on 13 July 2016.

Approved by supervising committee:

Main Supervisor: Marios Goudas, Professor, University of Thessaly, Greece

Supervisor 1: Irini Dermitzaki, Associate Professor, University of Thessaly, Greece

Supervisor 2: Maria Hassandra, Senior Lecturer, University of Jyväskylä, Finland

Trikala, Greece 2016

Declaration by Author

This thesis is composed of my original work, and contains no material previously published or written by another person except where due reference has been made in the text. I have clearly stated the contribution by others to jointly-authored works that I have included in my thesis.

I have clearly stated the contribution of others to my thesis as a whole, including statistical assistance, survey design, data analysis, significant technical procedures, professional editorial advice, and any other original research work used or reported in my thesis. The content of my thesis is the result of work I have carried out since the commencement of my research higher degree candidature and does not include a substantial part of work that has been submitted to qualify for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution. I have clearly stated which parts of my thesis, if any, have been submitted to qualify for another award.

I acknowledge that electronic and hard copies of my thesis must be lodged with the University Library.

I acknowledge that copyright of all material contained in my thesis resides with the copyright holder(s) of that material.

Bernadette Ramaker

Abstract

This qualitative study explored the development and transfers of life skills in former athletes as well as their perceived qualities of life skills. Previous research has studied the development of life skills mostly in formal life skills programs using high school athletes. Just a handful of studies researched the development and transfers using former athletes. Six (former) speed skaters involved in different competition levels were interviewed by using semi-structured interviews and a phenomenological approach. Several external influential factors on the development of life skills were identified as well as a variety of developed life skills. The athletes described experiencing positive and negative qualities of life skills. They also transferred skills to other domains using different strategies. Elite athletes seemed to be more aware of the development and transfer processes than the regional and national athletes. The findings replicate and extend the existing body of life skills research by proposing a retrospective point of view as a fourth line of research. As a first, this study looks at differences in competition levels, strategies to transfer skills, and experienced qualities of life skills. The limitations, implications, and directions for future research are given.

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	1
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	3
Positive Youth Development	3
Positive Youth Development through Sport	6
Positive and Negative Experiences in Sport: 5C Sport and YES-Sport	8
Life Skills	11
Definition	12
Life Skills Programs	13
Identification of Life Skills Needs	14
Factors Contributing to Life Skills Development	15
Life skills development: Coaches' perspectives	15
Life skills development: Athletes' perspectives	16
Evaluation of Life Skills Programs	18
Life Skills in Retrospect	20
High school athletes.	20
Competitive athletes.	23
THE CURRENT RESEARCH	26
METHODS	28
Qualitative Analysis and Phenomenological Approach	28
Participants	
Athlete 1.	29
Athlete 2.	29
Athlete 3.	29
Athlete 4.	29
Athlete 5.	30
Athlete 6.	30
Data Collection	30
Data Analysis	31
Establishing Trustworthiness	31

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	33
DEVELOPMENT OF LIFE SKILLS	33
External Factors	34
Environment	34
Home	34
Coaches and teachers	35
Lifestyle	35
DEVELOPED LIFE SKILLS	36
Goal Directed Behaviors	36
Organizational Skills	37
Coping Skills	38
Focus Skills	38
Awareness	39
Experienced Qualities	39
Positive qualities	40
Negative qualities.	40
Transfers of Life Skills	42
Contexts	42
Academics	43
Work	43
Daily and family life	44
Other	45
Strategies	45
Conscious.	46
Unconscious.	47
COMPETITION LEVELS	48
Development of Life Skills	48
Developed Life Skills	49
Transfers of Life Skills	50
GENERAL DISCUSSION	51
Implications	53

APPENDICES	62
REFERENCES	50
Conclusion	54
Future Directions	52
Limitations	53

INTRODUCTION

"Because everything that I have learned from being a figure skater will never only affect my identity as a skater. It will affect me as a person, in everything that I do (...)

Everything that I have gained from figure skating will benefit me."

— Mira Kaufman, American figure skater (TED Talk)

Over the last years, researchers have been examining sport's potential to positively influence the development of youth. It is namely often assumed that sport has a positive nature, which thus can bring positive changes to those who engage in it (Coakley, 2011). Therefore, these popular beliefs about the benefits of sport and youth's development are examined.

Coalter (2007) claims that sport participation firstly impacts youth development because it contributes to motor and sport-specific skills, improves one's physical well-being by improving one's health and fitness, can increase self-confidence and self-esteem, and develops character through discipline, teamwork, and sense of responsibility. Secondly, sport participation can reform 'at-risk' youth by providing structure and teaching them characteristics such as self-control and conformity to set rules. Sport allows them to become more acceptable in society. Thirdly, sport participation allows youth to be successful and engaged in society through inspiring educational achievement, facilitating social networks, and fostering aspirations to transcend sport. Therefore, the positive impacts of sport participation on youth development can be divided into three major categories: personal character development, reforming 'at-risk' populations, and fostering social relationships leading to personal success and engagement in society.

The research until now mainly focused on the positives sport participation brings by incorporating structured programs in for example PE classes and regular sport programs. However, sport participation might also have negative outcomes, which not have been explored extensively (Coakley, 2011). Also, he argued that much caution is needed with the belief that sport is good in itself and those who engage in sport will automatically experience it. Fraser-Thomas, Côté, and Deakin (2005) similarly argued to be cautious with assumptions about positive and negative outcomes of sport. Moreover, attention is needed in terms of how learned skills and outcomes might be transferred into other non-sport contexts. One could namely benefit

from the positives of sport participation by transferring skills learned from sport. However, one needs to be aware of the similarities of several contexts before one is able to apply those learned skills across domains. This may not happen automatically but coaches and teachers rather need to make youth aware by drawing attention to the similarities of contexts and usefulness of the skills.

Because of the possibilities sport offers, it is an often-used means for developmental practices in children. Physical education especially provides an environment in which children can learn positive skills they could use in the rest of their lives (Goudas, Dermitzaki, Leondari, & Danish, 2006). This also has to do with its accessible nature for all children, so that every kid will be involved in PE at school at one point. Even though physical education classes may provide an environment for children to learn these skills, a lot of children are also involved in regular and competitive sports that do not follow such a structured life skills program.

One could question whether athletes who are involved in competitive sports can learn similar skills and undergo the same positive development without being part of a formal program as one would in for example a PE class. The majority of the youth involved in sport are namely not part of such a structured program and just a small portion of the youth will become professional athletes, who can make a living of their sport participation. What is then the value of sport participation for the majority, who will not make it to the elite level? Anyone, especially those who will not make it to the elite level, may benefit from their sport participation because they might undergo personal development and develop skills, which are useful across all their life domains.

How is the learning process of life skills in a competitive sport context? When competitive athletes do learn life skills via their sport, how do they do so, can they transfer the skills to non-sport contexts, and more importantly, how do these skills affect their daily lives outside of their sports career? Trying to answer those questions, the current study will be exploring what athletes learn from their competitive sport participation and how they can use this in non-sport settings. In addition, examining the used strategies that are involved in the learning, using, and transferring process, and who has had an influence on this. As argued before, sport participation might not just know positive effects but possibly negatives as well. Therefore, attention will be paid to the positive and negative qualities that life skills learned in sport might have.

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

The following paragraphs illustrate and review the previous literature that forms the background leading up to the current study. First, the concept of positive youth development is described and how this could affect one's development. In particular, this will be reviewed from a sport's perspective. Second, life skills will be reviewed as tools that may foster positive youth development. In this section formal life skills programs will be discussed that are used in physical education classes and structured sports programs. Following, the development of life skills will be discussed from the perspective of coaches and athletes. Finally, literature examining former athletes' experiences of developing and transferring life skills into other life domains will be reviewed.

Positive Youth Development

What is positive youth development (PYD) and what is it about? Positive youth development is an overarching term that can be implemented in a variety of disciplines, such as developmental psychology, social work, health promotion, sociology, and education (Benson, Scales, Hamilton, & Sesma, 2006). It refers to a developmental process youth can experience, which will help them to function well in life.

The following principles stand at the core of positive youth development (Benson et al., 2006). First, all youth have the capacity for growth and development. Second, positive development is enabled when one is involved in relationships, contexts, and environments that nurture their development. Third, the development is further enabled when one participates actively in those relationships, contexts, and environments. Fourth, youth can benefit from those relationships, contexts, and environments. Fifth, the community in which the youth are involved is critical for the development. Sixth, youth themselves are crucial to their own development because they can create the type of relationships, contexts, environments, and communities that enable such positive development.

Therefore, the core ideas in positive youth development include (a) factors as the developmental contexts in which one is involved, (b) one's characteristics regarding the capacity to grow and excel, (c) one's developmental strengths, and then two developmental outcomes one could experience, namely (d) the reduction in risky behaviors and (e) the fostering of behaviors

promoting health and well-being (Benson et al., 2006). Thus, positive youth development focuses on youth becoming competent, healthy, and successful people.

The many suggested definitions are another indicator for its overarching nature. Until today there is no real consensus on one definition that is universal. For example, Roth, Brooks-Gunn, Murray, and Foster (1998) defined positive youth development as 'the engagement in prosocial behaviors and avoidance of health compromising behaviors and future jeopardizing behaviors' (p. 426). Positive youth development is thus a term referring to the promotion of desirable competencies or outcomes in young people.

Frameworks of PYD are proposed such as Lerner, Fisher, and Weinberg (2000) suggested that PYD has five desirable outcomes in youth, namely competence, connection, character, confidence, and caring or compassion. Each outcome represents clusters of individual attributes respectively. First, competence refers to one's cognitive ability and social and behavioral skills, for example conflict resolution. Second, connection refers to one's positive bonds with others and institutions. Third, character refers to one's integrity and moral behavior. Fourth, confidence refers to one's overall self-esteem, self-efficacy, and courage. Lastly, caring (or compassion) refers to one's values and sense of social justice. It is necessary that public policies can ensure families the capacity to provide their children the required resources to achieve these outcomes. When youth experience these five outcomes and their surrounding support system fosters its development, a possible sixth outcome may occur: contribution. This expresses the idea that these youngsters will contribute to society once they are adults. The model suggests that the enhancement of society is therefore ongoing through nurturing the same outcomes in their own children and families.

In the line of PYD research, developmental researchers have begun to investigate how extracurricular activities, one of which is sport, may foster positive developmental outcomes (e.g., initiative) (Larson, 2000). Developing initiative is the capacity to direct attention and effort to a challenging goal. He argued that youth who were active in voluntary but structured youth activities experienced high amounts of intrinsic motivation and concentration, which is the combination that is required for the development of initiative. Therefore, extracurricular and after-school activities provide youth the opportunities to develop positive skills. Youth involved in different types of youth activities (sport, performance and fine arts, or club and organization) reported that they see themselves as the agents of their own development (Dworkin, Larson, &

Hansen, 2003). They reported to have gained a variety of skills, including initiative, emotional regulation, developing peer relationships, and social skills with their peers and adults.

The following studies examine the influences of extracurricular activities, including sport, on youth's developmental outcomes. These studies examined developmental outcomes by using the Youth Experiences Survey (YES). This survey examines one's positive and negative experiences in a certain activity. The experiences of high school students involved in organized extracurricular and community-based activities were studied (Hansen, Larson, & Dworkin, 2003). The results showed that youth involved in the extracurricular activity sport reported both positive and negative experiences. The majority of athletes reported experiences that relate to personal development, such as self-knowledge, emotional regulation, and physical skills. However, negative interactions with peers and inappropriate adult behavior were also reported. The researchers concluded that sport could simultaneously build and challenge one's character.

Larson, Hansen, and Moneta (2006) examined extracurricular and community-based activities further using the YES 2.0, which consists of 70 items regarding six domains of personal and interpersonal developmental experiences and five domains of negative experiences. The researchers had two objectives, namely to compare the developmental and negative experiences among the organized activities and to compare the developmental experiences in organized activities (sports, performance and fine arts, academic clubs, community-oriented, service, and faith-based youth groups) with comparison activities (academic class, hanging out with friends, and working at a job).

Firstly, the students involved in sports reported higher rates on the initiative, emotional regulation, and teamwork experiences (Larson et al., 2006). However, they reported much lower on the scales of identity work, positive relationship, and adult network experiences in comparison to the students involved in the other organized activities. Also, the students involved in sports reported higher levels of stress as being a negative experience. Secondly, the findings show that sports stood out regarding the development of initiative.

The researchers therefore conclude that sports was a context that fostered the development of initiative behaviors, such as setting goals, applying effort, and learning time management (Larson et al., 2006). In addition, the development of emotional regulation was also nurtured. The students did report higher stress ratings but those were not higher than the ratings of other contexts they were involved in. Sport appears to be an environment in which positive

experiences and skills such as time management, emotion regulation, and pursuing goals are fostered but because of its competitive nature can also bring out stress factors.

Phelps et al. (2009) examined the course of positive youth development as well as the relationship of positive youth development to other measures of adolescent functioning over time. They used longitudinal data of youth in grades 5, 6, and 7. They predicted that positive youth development would influence five constructs, namely competence, confidence, connection, character, and caring. Their findings showed that positive youth development is a process that is similar across the three grades. This means that there is continuity in the structure of positive youth development and therefore it can be approached the same way for those ages. In addition, the researchers found, in contrast with their expectations, that the levels of positive youth development decreased slightly when they passed on to the grades 6 and 7. This decreasing trend naturally needs researchers' attention.

Thus, positive youth development is a concept that is used by many professionals working in different areas to refer to fostering positive outcomes and reducing jeopardizing behaviors in youth. The YES scale has been used to evaluate extracurricular activities, one of which is sport. The findings of the studies show that the effects of those extracurricular activities positively influence the developmental experiences of youth. How these developmental experiences exactly come about has been proposed in multiple frameworks by researchers. These frameworks will be discussed next.

Positive Youth Development through Sport

Before developing frameworks that capture the developmental experiences of youth in sport, it is necessary to define youth sport programs. Petitpas, Cornelius, Van Raalte, and Jones (2005) came to a definition for youth sport programs, namely youth sport programs promote psychosocial development while using sport as a means to provide experiences that promote self-discovery and teach participants life skills in an intentional and structured manner. They examined settings in which youth can learn life skills. Their framework proposes that youth are most likely to benefit from sport participation when they (a) can engage in the activity in an appropriate environment, (b) have caring adults supporting them, (c) can learn actual skills that are also useful in other life domains, and (d) can benefit from evaluation and research. The next paragraphs will discuss the examination of a high school sport program using this framework,

followed by a proposed applied model for sport programming based on other existing frameworks of youth sport.

Camiré, Trudel, and Bernard (2013) examined a high school sport program supposed to teach athletes life skills using Petitpas and colleagues' (2005) proposed framework. The researchers were specifically focused on determining the strengths and challenges of this program from the perspectives of the administrators, coaches, parents, and players. The program knew a sport-study format, in which the athletes go to class in the morning and do sports in the afternoon. The results indicated that the approach of the high school sport program was in line with Petitpas et al. (2005) research and showed that the coaches were able to spend large amounts of time with their athletes. This allowed the coaches to nurture quality relationships and implement effective strategies to teach their athletes life skills.

Youth can thus benefit from sport participation in terms of their development. Therefore, a model would be beneficial that outlines how youth development can be fostered through youth sport outside of the school setting. Fraser-Thomas et al. (2005) reviewed existing frameworks of youth sport and PYD to propose an applied model for sport-programming aiming for youth development. Special attention is brought to the development of physical, social, psychological and emotional, and intellectual aspects (NRCIM, 2002). The physical benefits of sports are relatively visible as it stimulates normal growth and development in children (Bar-Or, 1983). Cardiovascular health and weight control are two of the most important physical benefits of physical activity but muscular fitness, flexibility, and reducing the risk of developing diseases are also known benefits (e.g., Health Canada, 2003).

Psychological and emotional development was fostered through physical activity because it is known for the positive effects on one's well-being and life satisfaction. Participants who engage in physical activity also develop social skills such as citizenship and leadership (e.g., Wright & Côté, 2003). One of the important social skills that youth can learn is initiative, which can be learned through structured activities such as physical activity but is not limited to that (Larson, 2000). Moreover, the intellectual development is also related to physical activity and may play a role in the cognitive development in youth (Fraser-Thomas et al., 2005).

However, Fraser-Thomas and colleagues (2005) also reported the possible negative experiences associated with sport participation on the same three levels as the positive experiences. Physical injuries or eating disorders could impact one's physical development.

Examples of negative psychological and emotional development are reduced self-esteem, burnout, and even dropout. Lastly, effects such as poor sportsmanship and aggression can negatively impact one's behavior. Thus, the authors conclude that physical activity can contribute to the quality of life and development of several social skills when it is constructed in the right way.

In sum, engagement in sport may foster one's physical, social, psychological and emotional, and intellectual aspects when it has been constructed in the correct way. The previously discussed research was based on the results of the YES scale, which is a general survey to examine one's experiences in a certain activity. To improve the applicability of this survey in sport the scale has been revised to be sport-specific. The survey and the results of studies using this revised sport-specific survey are discussed in the paragraphs below.

Positive and Negative Experiences in Sport: 5C Sport and YES-Sport

In the following paragraphs, studies examining positive and negative experiences in sport will be discussed. First, a proposed shortened version of Phelps et al.'s (2009) instrument to measure the 5Cs in sport is described, followed by studies using the sport-revised YES scale to measure experiences in sport.

Jones, Dunn, Holt, Sullivan, and Bloom (2011) argued the need for examination of the degree of contribution of the 5Cs of PYD (competence, confidence, connection, character, and caring/compassion) in specific domains. They specifically examined the outcomes youth could gain through sport participation. They used a shortened measure of Phelps et al.'s (2009) study, consisting of 30-items in the PYD-Sport measure in contrast to 78 items. Their findings showed the existence of only two factors, namely pro-social values and confidence/competence. They argued this was the case because of the relative similarity of the constructs. Even though just two factors were identified the researchers state that those two do reflect quality experiences of development through sport. The researchers emphasized that sport participation may promote PYD but it is still unclear how this occurs. Therefore, research in sport activities specifically is required that examines the developmental experiences.

Previously, the YES scale has been used to examine experiences in organized activities and later also in the sport context. The YES scale now has been revised into a new sport-specific survey, the Youth Experience Survey for Sport (YES-S), to enable the examination of positive

and negative experiences in sport specifically (MacDonald, Côté, Eys, & Deakin, 2012). The YES-S consists of five factors, namely (1) Personal and Social Skills, (2) Cognitive Skills, (3) Goal Setting, (4) Initiative, and (5) Negative Experiences.

The first factor concerns all issues of personal and social development. Personal development refers to for example knowing that emotions affect behavior and becoming better at taking feedback. Social development refers to for example establishing new friendships and the ability to make compromises while working together with others. Youth who undergo these types of experiences in sport can also use those in other life domains outside of sport. The researchers suggested that this first factor is similar to the responsibility concept Hellison (2003) proposed. The second factor refers to the cognitive skills athletes learn through their sport participation besides the physical abilities. Examples of such cognitive skills are creative skills learned through trying several positions or tactics. In addition, youth involved in sport show higher academic performance and desire to stay in school, which may be related to learning required time management skills to be able to balance their sports and academics. The third factor refers to goal setting in and outside of the sports domain. Naturally, in sports the goals are sport-specific, whereas one could also set goals regarding for example academics. The fourth factor represents the term initiative as Larson (2000) had defined it: Initiative is intrinsic motivation used to put forth effort and attention toward a goal and leads to critical thinking and knowledge searching skills in youth. Lastly, the fifth factor combines all negative experiences one may experience through their sport participation. Researchers can use this survey to understand young athletes' positive and negative experiences in sport. The following studies in this section are examples that utilized the YES-S (MacDonald et al., 2012) to examine developmental experiences.

Bruner, Eys, Wilson, and Côté (2014) examined group cohesion and the perception of positive youth development in team sport athletes using the YES-S. 424 Canadian team sport athletes of about 15 years old from a diverse selection of sports participated in the study. The results indicated that group cohesion was associated with PYD in a way that on individual level perceptions of task and social cohesion were associated with greater levels of PYD. Both task and social cohesion were namely strong predictors of two factors of PYD: personal and social skills and goal setting. In addition, task cohesion strongly predicted initiative and decreased negative experiences. Social cohesion on the other hand significantly predicted cognitive skills

gained through sport participation. The results of the variability in athletes' perceptions of cohesion at individual and group level require attention because of the interdependent nature and influence of the social context on PYD.

The positive impact of the invested time by the coach on the relationship with their athletes and strategies in teaching life skills (Camiré et al., 2013) is further examined. Vella, Oades, and Crowe (2013) examined the influences of coaches' leadership behaviors and the quality of the coach-athlete relationship on PYD utilizing the YES-S in 455 Australian soccer players with an average age of 15 years. The results indicated that coaches' transformational leadership behaviors were positively associated with PYD, specifically with personal and social skills, goal setting, and initiative. In addition, the perceived coach-athlete relationship was also positively associated with PYD. The combination of the two formed the strongest predictor of PYD. The team success factor however was not associated with developmental experiences but only with the factor of personal and social skills. The researchers argued that coaches are incredibly valuable sources for youth to experience positive developmental experiences.

Gould, Flett, and Lauer (2012) found similar results regarding the influence of coaches on PYD. They examined the developmental outcomes underserved youth reported from their sport participation using the YES 2.0, their perceptions of the coach-created sports climate, and the relationship between the youth's reported development and perceptions of the climate. 239 middle and high school students involved in baseball and softball leagues were included in this study. The youth reported to perceive teamwork and social skills, the development of physical skills, and initiative as the positive outcomes from their sport participation. One of the most experienced negatives was stress. These findings also compliment Larson et al.'s results (2006) that indicated the most experienced positive experiences were those of initiative, emotional regulation, and teamwork experiences, and the most experienced negative experience was stress. Moreover, the findings indicate that the creation of a caring, mastery-oriented sport environment will foster PYD, whereas an ego-orientated climate would be detrimental for PYD. Therefore, it is crucial for coaches to stimulate a mastery-oriented and caring climate and avoid an ego-orientated climate.

When coaches are such valuable resources, do coaches who are untrained in positive youth development differ from trained coaches in the impact they make on the personal development of youth? MacDonald, Côté, and Deakin (2010) examined these differences in their

study. The results indicated that the athletes significantly differed in only one factor of the used YES-S: personal and social skills. However, these skills were also improved in the group of the untrained coaches, which indicates that one may not have to be formally trained to be able to foster these positive skills in athletes.

Overall, youth appear to experience beneficial aspects for their development through sport participation and interactions with coaches and peers in an actual sport context. Positive youth development thus focuses on promoting desirable competencies in youth. It includes the development of positive psychological attributes, dispositions, and specific skills. Skills are anything that is taught, practiced, and transferred in other domains, environments, and situations than the skill is originally learned (Danish & Nellen, 1997). Looking at the concept of skills, it could be argued that one could learn skills that are useful and will help one to live their life in a successful manner. Therefore, skills can be seen as tools that can be used to help one function across life domains. Particular skills could lead to outcomes such as positive youth development when the skills are used appropriately in the right contexts. These skills are called life skills. These skills can thus contribute to positive youth development because they can help one to succeed in different environments, as one would have learned for example how to perform under pressure and solve problems. Those types of skills essentially prepare youth to live in a social environment that continually and rapidly changes. Consequently, life skills may facilitate this positive development and help youth become successful and competent adults. Life skills will be discussed in-depth in the next section.

Life Skills

In the following paragraphs, the concept of life skills will be discussed in more detail. A definition of life skills will be identified, formal life skills programs will be discussed, and the three lines of research in sport and physical education settings that Goudas (2010) has identified will be presented. These three lines of research are (a) identification of athletes' and students' life skills needs, (b) factors contributing to life skill development, and (c) evaluation of the effectiveness of life skills programs. After discussing those lines of research, a fourth more recent line of research will be identified.

Definition

To discuss the concept of life skills, it is important to identify what life skills actually are. Life skills know the same inconsistencies in terms of definitions as the term PYD does. The World Health Organization (1999), for example, defined life skills as the ability for adaptive and positive behavior that enables individuals to deal effectively with the demands and challenges of everyday life. Another definition for life skills and simultaneously the one that will be used throughout the current research is from Danish, Taylor, Hodge, and Heke (2004) who defined life skills as those learned skills that allow individuals to succeed in the different environments in which they live, such as school, home, and in their neighborhoods. It is crucial to acknowledge that a skill can only be classified as a life skill when it can be successfully transferred into other life domains than the setting in which the skill is learned (Gould & Carson, 2008).

Brooks (1984) created a life skills taxonomy defining life skills as learned behaviors that are necessary for effective living, including essential knowledge or conditions for the development or acquisition of such behaviors. The life skills taxonomy consists of four categories: interpersonal communication and human relations skills, problem solving and decision-making skills, physical fitness and health maintenance skills, and identity development and purpose-in-life skills. For each category he described life skills descriptors for three stages in life, namely childhood, adolescence, and adulthood. The number of life skills is innumerable but examples of life skills are communicating effectively and working together with others, being assertive, being self-aware, setting goals, performing under and coping with pressure, effectively handling success and failure, positive thinking, focus, and time management.

Researchers have stressed why life skills are important to learn and have. Life skills contribute namely to the positive youth development allowing youngsters to be competent, healthy, and successful (Benson et al., 2006). Plus, they are related to experiences and opportunities known to enhance the overall positive developmental outcomes. Life skills can be transferred to other life contexts and therefore prepare youngsters to deal effectively with social demands, adopt healthy behaviors, and can be useful on the job market. Since the number of environments grows as we become older, life skills also become seemingly more important over time (Danish & Nellen, 1997).

Now a definition and categories for which life skills can play an important role are identified. Seen the importance of life skills, the influence on developmental outcomes, and the

perception that life skills are taught and not caught (Gould & Carson, 2008), it is argued that one could learn these skills through a formal program. These formal sport programs teaching life skills are discussed in the following paragraphs.

Life Skills Programs

Several intervention programs have been developed to actively foster positive youth development in both PE classes and sport programs. For example, the Going for the Goal (GOAL) program (Danish et al., 1998) consists of ten one-hour sessions taught by trained high school students to middle school and junior high school students. The aim of GOAL is to teach young adults a sense of personal control and confidence about their own future so they can become better decision-makers and become better citizens overall. The students are taught by the use of metaphors in a classroom setting.

Danish (2002) adapted the GOAL program to a more sport-based intervention called Sports United to Promote Education and Recreation (SUPER). In this intervention the athletes learn the life skills besides the actual physical aspects of the sport. The program is divided in clinics so that the athletes learn in three stages: first the physical skills of the sport, second the life skills that are related to sport in general, and third playing the sport.

Sport-specific intervention programs that especially aim to teach life skills focused on a particular sport are also on the market. The golf-oriented First Tee program (Petlichkoff, 2004) teaches life skills besides the golf essentials. A football-oriented program called Play It Smart (Petitpas, Van Raalte, Cornelius, & Presbrey, 2004) has a collaborative nature between coaches, parents, school staff, and community leaders to teach football players to identify which life skills they possess and how to transfer them into in their academics. A program aimed more toward physical education is Hellison's model (2003), which teaches students to develop responsibility by integrating the education of life skills with the physical aspects of PE.

The formal life skills programs aim to not only teach athletes life skills but also to transfer the skills to other settings. The research on the transferability of life skills is lacking. In particular, whether one actually does transfer them into other life domains and especially how one does so. Martinek, Schilling, and Johnson (2001) found that the majority of the students who were involved in an after school sports program, the Project Effort, did not transfer the learned goal setting to the classroom setting. They therefore argued that the transfer of learned life skills

into another contexts requires certain conditions and may not be done automatically. What these potential conditions are is still unclear.

The abovementioned programs teach youth skills allowing them to learn and improve their sport performances through for example goal setting and taking responsibility. These programs have the potential to teach these skills but first it's necessary to know which skills students and athletes actually need. This is the first line of research that Goudas (2010) identified, which will be discussed next.

Identification of Life Skills Needs

High school sport coaches were surveyed regarding the problems they encounter while working with athletes (Gould, Chung, Smith, & White, 2006). The coaches reported encountering the following three issues the most frequently (a) failure to take personal responsibility, (b) lack of motivation/work ethic, and (c) poor communication/listening skills. These high school sport coaches recognized their important role in facilitating the development of personal and social skills through sport participation for their student-athletes but were also capable of identifying which issues they faced often. Similar issues were identified through interviews with coaches, athletic directors, school principals, and parents of high school athletes (Gould, Carson, Fifer, Lauer, & Benham, 2009a). They reported issues to do with coping with pressure, dealing with parental involvement, and counteracting expectations about results.

Jones and Lavallee (2009a) interviewed athletes, coaches, experts, and graduate students to explore how they defined life skills, which skills they thought British adolescents need, and which life skills are the most important. Several definitions of life skills occurred but the named examples were categorized in social skills, respect, leadership skills, family interactions skills, communication skills, and organizational skills. The participants identified the social and communication skills as the most crucial life skills for British athletes to learn.

A diverse group of participants (athletic directors, principals, coaches, parents, and athletes) were interviewed to identify issues and concerns that influence sport's potential to achieve educational and developmental objectives, in particular the development of psychosocial and life skills (Gould, Carson, Fifer, Lauer, & Benham, 2009b). A variety of issues were identified that might threaten athletes' positive development, namely an overemphasis placed on results and outcomes, increased pressure and expectations on the young athletes, early sports

specialization, parental issues including overinvolvement and poor sportsmanship, inappropriate attitudes, and the striving for professionalization. Therefore, the development of self-regulation strategies (e.g., goal setting, prioritizing, and time management) and emotional control strategies would be beneficial for athletes to counteract the detrimental impact of those demands and still experience personal growth.

Factors Contributing to Life Skills Development

The previously mentioned life skills intervention programs are built on the assumption that one can teach and learn life skills through a systematic program. However, the vast majority of athletes do not go through a formal life skills program but rather learn life skills, if they do, by their coaches and their environment. The following section will discuss factors that contribute to life skills development, which is the second line in the life skills research (Goudas, 2010). How can one develop life skills through sport and which factors are influential in this process? First, this is discussed from the perspective of coaches and is followed by the perspectives of athletes.

Life skills development: Coaches' perspectives. How do coaches try to develop values and mental skills in youth? McCallister, Blinde, and Weiss (2000) interviewed volunteer softball and baseball coaches without any formal training but on average 11 years of experience, which life skills they thought were important and how they taught these skills. The coaches were able to describe some skills they felt were important but were unable to clearly describe their teaching methods for these values and life skills. It appeared the coaches assumed that merely participating in sports automatically taught the athletes these skills and values.

Experienced, on average 9 years, and formally trained competitive ice hockey and soccer coaches seemed to use more well-thought-out and intentional strategies to influence athlete behavior and personal characteristics (Gilbert, Gilbert, & Trudel, 2001a, 2001b). Leadership is a personal characteristic that is simultaneously a life skill. Varsity athletes described how their coaches used four strategies to foster leadership skills in them. The coaches did so by being general nice people with a genuine interest in their athletes, engaging athletes in mature conversations, providing clear leadership roles and opportunities, and employing a stimulating environment (Wright & Côté, 2001).

Gould, Collins, Lauer, and Chung (2007) examined highly successful coaches' specific methods and strategies to develop personal characteristics and life skills in their athletes. These extremely experienced (on average 30 years) and formally trained football coaches viewed coaching general sport skills and coaching life skills as an intertwined constantly ongoing process. They were able to articulate thought-out processes and strategies, for example, establishing relationships with players by treating them as young adults and showing them they are cared about as people. They also incorporated consistent reinforcement that was individualized for each athlete. The coaches indicated that an important strategy for coaching sport and life skills is to keep high expectations and performance standards while holding the athletes accountable for the set standard and consistently doing so throughout the whole season.

In sum, inexperienced coaches were able to describe skills they found important for their athletes but were seemingly unaware of their teaching methods to achieve the development of these life skills with their athletes. More experienced and successful coaches on the other hand seem to have more well-thought-out strategies and approach teaching sport and life skills as one process. This suggests that coaches overall may interpret the development of life skills as an automatic process that is inherent to sport participation.

Life skills development: Athletes' perspectives. The development of life skills and their transferability to other life domains are recently more frequently researched from athletes' perspectives. The athletes involved in the next studies were actively competing in their sports. If athletes learn life skills, how do they develop these and how do they transfer them to other contexts?

Holt, Tink, Mandigo, and Fox (2008) examined in a case study of a Canadian high school soccer team whether and how the youth learned life skills through their sport involvement. The soccer team existed of 12 male athletes who were all around 17 years old and had about 11 years of experience in the sport. The researchers examined through fieldwork and interviews with the athletes and the head coach if and how the athletes gained life skills through involvement in the soccer team. The high school was known for their athletic performances and the head coach as an effective youth leader.

Their findings (Holt et al., 2008) showed that the majority of the athletes learned to take initiative and to demonstrate personal responsibility. However, the athletes did not learn these

skills because they were taught or learned the skills through soccer itself. Rather the researchers suggested that taking personal responsibility might have been a prerequisite to be involved in this level of football. It seemed that the skill of taking initiative was not transferred to other life domains. Besides the skill initiative, the players reported the skill of showing and having respect (for others). Again, this skill was not directly transferred to other non-sport contexts. It could be argued that respect was taught through soccer because the school athletic program valued respect to such an extent that the athletes were punished when they did not act upon this virtue. Lastly, the athletes reported teamwork and leadership as life skills. Even though the coach did not directly teach these skills, the athletes believed it was the only skill that transferred to other life contexts than sport. Holt and his colleagues concluded that none of the reported skills were directly taught by the coach. However, the coach did create an environment that provided his athletes with opportunities to gain these skills.

Besides the external factors that contribute to one's development, individual factors could also impact this development. Each individual participating in sport has his or her own pre-existing set of already learned skills, physical abilities, and personality characteristics (Benson, 1997). These internal assets could be divided into four categories (a) commitment to learning (e.g., achievement, motivation, school engagement), (b) positive values (e.g., caring, equity, responsibility), (c) social competencies (e.g., planning and decision-making), and (d) positive identity (e.g., self-esteem, sense of purpose) (Benson, Leffert, Scales, & Blyth, 1998). Youth who have more developmental assets are more likely to become successful in all their life domains and show for example more resilience. Therefore, these existing skills and dispositions might influence one's overall learning of life skills.

In sum, coaches believe they play an important role in teaching their athletes life skills but they are relatively unaware of how they do so. Athletes are also positive about gaining life skills through sport but do not transfer all the learned skills into non-sport settings. These results suggest that sport informally contributes to athletes' development of some life skills but do specific organized life skills programs provide better results? This question will be addressed in the next section.

Evaluation of Life Skills Programs

The third line in the research of life skills is on the effectiveness of life skills programs (Goudas, 2010). Only a few studies have examined the effectiveness of life skills programs, which will be discussed in the following paragraphs. The effectiveness of a variant of the life skills program SUPER was tested in sport clubs (volleyball and soccer) that examined the participants' knowledge about life skills, their (self-assessed) ability to use these skills, and their performance in sport skills (Papacharisis, Goudas, Danish, & Theodorakis, 2005).

The abbreviated form was taught in a period of 8 weeks, consisted of shorter sessions that took place during practice times and started with a sport skills test. The findings showed that the participants involved in the life skills program showed more knowledge of life skills (goal setting, problem solving, and positive thinking skills), reported higher self-beliefs in their own abilities to use these skills, and higher sport performance. This indicates that not only life skills can be taught alongside sport-specific skills but also enhance sport performance. The program provided the athletes with the knowledge and skills to successfully cope with challenges they might face in their lives.

Goudas et al. (2006) conducted a similar study but in a physical education context. They again examined the effectiveness of a shortened life skills program that was now delivered in physical education focusing on goal setting and positive thinking. They tested participants' performance, knowledge of life skills, and their self-reported ability to use the skills. The results are also similar, the participants who received the life skills training during their regular trainings reported greater knowledge of life skills, higher self-belief in goal setting, and higher physical fitness. Goudas et al. (2006) add to the abovementioned study that learning life skills does not hinder the learning of sport skills but students can actually improve them by applying the taught skills. The researchers argue that appropriate embedding of life skills is important to stimulate the learning of sport and life skills simultaneously.

Furthermore, Goudas and Giannoudis (2008) did a study examining the effectiveness of a life skills program in physical education but focused specifically on a team-sport-based program. This study tested goal setting, problem solving, and positive thinking, which now included the component of changing negative thoughts as well. During the in total 17 sessions, the participants learned sport-specific skills of basketball and volleyball and 10 minutes per session were dedicated to lectures of life skills. Again, the participants reported greater knowledge about

life skills and had higher self-beliefs for changing negative to positive thoughts. The self-beliefs for the other three did not change significantly. Their performance did improve. Learning life skills can therefore be seen as a valuable addition to gaining sport skills. This study did not specifically examine the transfer of skills to other life domains but in previous applications of the same program, the athletes were able to transfer the learned life skills.

Gould and Carson (2008) argued that the effects of formal life skills programs are rarely examined and therefore it may be hard for coaches and PE teachers to actively and successfully teach life skills. The lack of theoretical explanations of the development of life skills in sport may contribute to these few examinations. Practitioners experience practical difficulties because they cannot use an overarching theoretical framework of the development of life skills.

Therefore, Gould and Carson developed a preliminary model that describes how life skills can be coached through sport. The model consists of five components. The first component consists of the athletes' personal characteristics. Internal and external, as both influence the coaches' ability to coach life skills. The second component focuses on the sport experience itself, especially on the actual coaching of life skills. The third component consists of possible explanations of how life skills development occurs and how it influences athletes' behaviors. The fourth component contains the positive and negative outcomes of sport participation that an athlete could experience after successfully or failing to learn the according life skills, respectively. The last component focuses on the transferability of the life skills to settings outside of sport. This transferability component is crucial as it is one of the prerequisites for a skill to be a life skill.

Camiré, Trudel, and Forneris (2012) used this preliminary model of coaching life skills through sport (Gould & Carson, 2008) to study how 10 successful high school football coaches taught and encouraged the transfer of life skills by conducting interviews with both the coaches and the athletes. They concluded that these coaches made a conscious effort of teaching life skills, while indicating that there are some differences in-between athletes in terms of transferability. There were some discrepancies in perspectives whether the athletes transferred life skills to other areas of life, due to differences in for example maturity. In addition, the findings supported the vision that life skills need purposeful attention from not only the coach but also from the athlete to be transferred into non-sport settings, as this might not be an automatic process. The process of transferability still demands further research (Goudas, 2010).

In sum, efforts have been made to examine the effectiveness of formal life skills programs on the development and transfers of life skills. The findings indicate that the programs seem to be effective in both sport and physical education contexts. However, those studies did not account for other influential factors, which were later included in the proposed model of coaching life skills through sport. In addition, there has been a lack of research of athletes' perceptions of life skills and their transferability. This leads to the newly proposed line of research in the following paragraphs.

Life Skills in Retrospect

A fourth line in the life skills research is proposed, namely athletes' perceptions of their learned life skills and how they can use these in non-sport contexts in retrospect. This aspect is an important characteristic of the current research as well. Until now, many studies have used athletes who were still actively participating in sport to study the development and transfers of life skills. However, it may be more meaningful for the research to examine athletes who are not active anymore in their sport. They will be able to reflect on their sport participation, the things they have learned during their sport career, and indicate what is useful for them today and for their daily functioning and strivings out of sport. In the following paragraphs, studies will be discussed that examine the development and transfers of life skills in (former) high school athletes, followed by studies examining this in former athletes who were involved in regular sport programs.

High school athletes. Camiré, Trudel, and Forneris (2009) interviewed 20 athletes, ranging between 13 and 17 years old, to explore their perspectives on whether they could negotiate their sport participation with their parents and their coaches. More importantly, the researchers explored whether the high school athletes believed they learned life skills through their sport and could transfer those to other life domains. The athletes were involved in regular sport programs (basketball, volleyball, soccer, and badminton) that were not structured to systematically teach life skills. Neither had the coaches received actual training related to PYD or to teaching life skills.

The majority of the athletes mentioned they negotiated their participation in high school sport with their parents (Camiré et al., 2009). Also, the majority mentioned that they received

several kinds of support from their parents, including emotional, logistical, and financial support. Most athletes stated to have had the opportunity to be involved in forming the team goals. Moreover, the athletes believed that their sport participation allowed them to develop several life skills, such as time management skills through balancing school and sports, personal dispositions (e.g., self-efficacy, confidence, and leadership), and social skills. All athletes mentioned that through sport they had expended their social networks and learned working together. However, only a portion of the athletes mentioned to be able to use these social skills in various life domains, especially working together with others in for example academia. Since only a portion of the athletes mentioned transferring the skills, the other athletes might need more direction in this transferring process from for example their coaches.

These findings (Camiré et al., 2009) suggest that athletes need an appropriate sports context, supportive parents, and opportunities to develop life skills. They suggest that coaches and parents can stimulate athletes by making the athletes aware of the opportunity to learn these skills and possible transfers to other life domains. These results compliment the findings of Holt et al. (2008) because the high school athletes were able to learn and demonstrate initiative through sport participation like the previously interviewed soccer players did. Moreover, the athletes reported to have gained life skills such as confidence, leadership, time management skills, and other social skills like expanding social networks with meaningful relationships and working together with others.

Camiré and Trudel (2010) argued little is known about athletes' perspectives on character development through sport, which is why they examined this by interviewing athletes asking for descriptions of actual experiences in their sport. They interviewed 20 high school athletes, who were involved in one of the four sports that the high school offered (basketball, volleyball, soccer, and badminton) for at least one to five years. The athletes were asked to describe their perspectives on the coaching and the development of character in their high school sport. The researchers were specifically interested in the development of social and moral character through sport participation.

The athletes indicated how sport participation was an opportunity for them to learn social values such as teamwork, perseverance, and loyalty (Camiré & Trudel, 2010). Teamwork was mentioned by the majority as one of the most important values one developed through their sport. Team sport athletes seemed to place more importance on social values, whereas the

individual athletes did so on moral values. An interesting note of this study was that the athletes actually did not report learning moral values through sport. The athletes mentioned how they rather learned these values in other life domains, such as at home, and sport provided them an opportunity to apply these values. Therefore, the researchers argued sport could be an environment in which youth can develop and apply social and moral values. However, school administrators and coaches need to take an active role and implement this character development into their programs.

Kendellen and Camiré (2015) interviewed 14 former high school athletes of about 23 years old. The former athletes had been involved in multiple sport disciplines (individual and team sports) over the course of one to five years. The purpose was to examine athletes' perspectives on their developmental experiences in high school sport. In particular, exploring athletes' positive and negative experiences with their coaches during their sport participation in high school.

Athletes mentioned two types of positive experiences in their sport participation (Kendellen & Camiré, 2015). Firstly, the majority of the athletes mentioned learning new life skills through sport. Several mentioned to have learned the skills to be effective leaders. Also, the development of social skills, such as the ability to develop relationships with other people, was mentioned. Several athletes believed they gained time management skills. However, they did not believe actual sport taught them time management but rather the interaction of the demands of school and sport at the same time. Secondly, athletes indicated to be able to practice and refine previously acquired life skills through their high school sport participation. The athletes mentioned skills they had already learned before going to high school, such as coping skills, responsibility, and good work ethic. However, they mentioned how the sport environment provided them the opportunity to apply these skills again. Like the athletes in Camiré and Trudel's (2010) study, these athletes had gained skills in other life domains but were able to use them in the sport context. Moreover, these results compliment the suggestion Gould and Carson (2008) made that athletes come with a certain already existing skill set to sports or PE class, which makes the process of sport participation more complex as experiences are not identical for everyone involved.

Besides the positive experiences, the high school athletes also described experiences that could have a negative impact on their positive youth development (Kendellen & Camiré, 2015).

Firstly, athletes involved in contact sports mentioned incidences in which they witnessed aggressive behaviors. Two origins of the aggressive behaviors were described, namely a lack of emotional control skills and as a manner to show others power and influence. The latter was also interpreted as a subculture to ice hockey. Secondly, many high school athletes described experiences of stress because of the pressure to balance school and sport but some also because they were scared to make mistakes. Thirdly, athletes mentioned that many of their negative experiences were because of their interactions with their coaches. The incidences of dealing with favoritism and coaches' superiority made the athletes perceive the social interactions as inappropriate. Lastly, a couple athletes believed their academic careers suffered because they prioritized sport over their academic careers.

Kendellen and Camiré (2015) therefore argue that high school sport is not only an environment in which athletes can learn new life skills but can also apply already acquired skills. Coaches need to be aware of the potential for athletes to develop skills through sport, how they can adapt the sport environment to foster the positive development the youth would need and counteract the negative experiences athletes may have in sport.

As Kendellen and Camiré's (2015) study was specifically focused on experiences in high school sports, these experiences may differ to other types of competitive sport and age groups. Therefore, in the next section, studies will be discussed that explore life skills of athletes who were involved in competitive sport settings.

Competitive athletes. Holt, Tamminen, Tink, and Black (2009) conducted a study to answer questions if and how athletes learned life skills through participation in regular competitive sports. Forty young adults of about 22 years old, who had played regular competitive youth sport and had been involved across a range of team and individual sports, were interviewed. Participants needed to explain in detail what life skills they believed they learned through sport.

The findings suggested that the athletes did not learn life skills through the sport itself but rather through the social interactions that were involved (Holt et al., 2009). Three types of impactful interactions were identified, namely with peers, parents, and coaches. Firstly, the interaction with peers appeared to be the most meaningful. Through this interaction all athletes learned to develop friendships, peer networks, and most importantly the ability to work with

others. The latter retained meaningful in their adult lives. Secondly, the interaction with parents was meaningful for athletes because certain personal values, such as sportspersonship and personal responsibility, were instilled through this relationship. Lastly, the interaction with the coach appeared to be meaningful even though athletes mentioned positive and negative interactions. Positive interactions were those emphasizing persistence and effort, whereas negative interactions overemphasized winning.

Holt et al. (2009) therefore stressed that the interactions in sport facilitated the acquisition of life skills rather than the sport itself whereby the interactions with peers were the most influential on athletes' social skills. Similar to the results of Camiré and Trudel (2010) the parents played a role in the development of moral values and skills and used teachable moments provided by sport to instill these values. The findings also relate to the proposed life skills coaching model (Gould & Carson, 2008), in which coaches are placed in the most central teaching position, but now it seems that actually parents and especially peers may be more central to the youth sport experience than originally suggested.

In a single case study, a 22 year-old former regional and national successful female tennis player was interviewed about her experiences and her perspective on life skills in her sport (Jones & Lavallee, 2009b). The researchers purposefully chose this particular former tennis player as she had strong life skills and was open to share her experiences about the development. The study explored through multiple interviews how her general lived experience with tennis was and in detail how she had developed perceived life skills.

She described that she became the person she is today because of the integration of her own personal characteristics and the learning associated with playing tennis. Tennis had taught her many skills, such as communication, leadership, time management, and goal setting. However, she also mentioned that she did not develop certain skills, for example confidence in social situations. She argued that the learned skills were a reflection of the sport's requirements and her own individual experiences. These together emphasized specific skills, which resulted in her developing in this specific way.

She mentioned further developing skills that she was born with through her participation in tennis. These skills were namely refined and reinforced through her sport experiences. Crucial is to recognize that she explains that the requirements of the situation triggered her to use and further develop these already existing skills. For example, she described how she has

perfectionistic tendencies and tennis put her in situations where she could use these tendencies to keep going and manage the experience. Moreover, she mentioned that the development of life skills was implicit because no one ever taught her life skills. However, her parents did stimulate her in learning life skills through structuring her sport experiences. They encouraged her to take initiative and be independent by for example filling out her own forms for competitions.

The former tennis player also described that life skills can be transferred between life domains. For example, she mentioned how tennis allows her to be successful in academics. She is aware of factors that help her to transfer the skills she needs, such as the similarity in contexts, feeling confident in using the skills, and being successful doing so.

Overall, experiential factors triggered the actual development of life skills for her. The interaction of her own character dispositions, the environment demanding such skills, and a certain awareness of those requirements made her feel as if she could learn the skills to be successful. These findings are in contrast to the suggestion that life skills are 'taught and not caught'. Jones and Lavallee (2009b) namely argue that encouraging the awareness of situational requirements and structuring sport experiences to be in line with positive youth development will allow young athletes to learn life skills. Thus, the described learning process of life skills in their study was more implicit and unconscious, which needs to be further explored.

Adding to the research of the development of life skills and more importantly the process of transferability, Hayball and Jones (2016) interviewed eight female athletes of 15 and 16 years old, who had withdrawn from their competitive sport within a period of six months to one year before the interviews. Hayball and Jones explored whether these former athletes believed they could use their gained life skills from sport in a non-sport context and explored the perceived transfer process of these skills. The findings are similar to the earlier mentioned results (e.g., Jones & Lavallee, 2009b).

The former athletes indicated to have learned and refined existing life skills through their sport and that this happened through experiential learning (Hayball & Jones, 2016). The knowledge that was gained stayed after withdrawing from sports including conflict resolution, positive attitude, awareness of consequences of action, mental toughness, coping with stress, time management skills, self-esteem, confidence, and (social) competence. The former athletes also mentioned some examples in which they transferred life skills into non-sport settings. One

of them described conflict resolution for solving a conflict with a peer by asking to speak to her quietly instead of starting to yell.

Hayball and Jones (2016) argue that the transfer of the life skills was facilitated by an experience or series of experiences in sport that were memorable, experiential learning to manage the developmental experience of sport, appraising the event(s) as valuable, and the awareness that the skill or experience is also useful outside sport or at another time. Also, the refinement in personality allows life skills to stay over time and across situations.

In line with Camiré et al. (2009) those results suggest that athletes do not need a structured life skills program to gain and transfer life skills but rather the appraisal of the experiences is important. In addition, the demands of the situation allow participants to develop skills and apply these (Jones & Lavallee, 2009b). Therefore, Hayball and Jones (2016) argued that the awareness of usefulness of life skills in other domains is critical and coaches may have to adopt an active role in making their athletes aware of this. Lastly, they suggested future researchers to explore experiences of older participants who naturally have more life experience and had longer to consider how their experiences in sport transfer to other life domains.

Overall, both high school athletes and athletes involved in competitive sports mentioned instances of developing life skills through their sport participation. They described gaining new life skills or refining already existing skills not because their coaches directly taught them but rather because of the demands of the situation they were in. This implies again that sport brings coaches the opportunity to use the environment as a facilitator by making their athletes aware of the potential to learn life skills. Several athletes have mentioned to use these skills in other life domains outside of sport, especially in their academics. However, how they actually use these skills in other settings than sport remains unclear. In addition, the role of others (e.g., coaches, parents, and peers) in the learning and transfer processes is relatively undefined. Also, only a handful of studies use former athletes but it would be desirable to create a more complete picture of the development and transfer processes of life skills. Thus, these aspects demand further exploration.

The Current Research

In the following paragraphs, the purpose and justification of the current study are discussed. The purpose of the current study is namely to describe the life skills (former) athletes

have gained over the years they were involved in competitive sport, to explore how and which strategies they use to transfer the life skills into non-sports contexts, and who influenced the learning and transferring processes. Lastly, the positive and negative qualities that certain life skills may have are explored.

Since the environment seems to bring the opportunity to develop life skills, it is interesting to study specific sports separately. Focusing on only one sport environment will allow the researcher to make sure the athletes were involved in the same sport culture. This naturally eliminates differences one could experience across sports. In the current study, Dutch speed skaters will be interviewed to explore the proposed research questions. Speed skating has a long history and enjoys large popularity in the Netherlands. In contrast to previous studies, the athletes in the current study have been involved in three different competition levels, namely regional, national, and elite level.

This will allow for comparing the development and transfer processes of life skills across those three competition levels. The athletes are slightly older compared to existing studies, which will allow the athletes to have more insightful reflections of their speed skating careers. In addition, the majority of the athletes involved in the current study are former athletes, who have now ended their competitive speed skating careers.

To my knowledge no research has been published to date that addressed athletes' use of specific strategies to transfer and use life skills in other settings, the possible negative qualities of life skills, or the differences between competition levels, for which this study would be the first. The current study adds to the existing literature examining mainly former athletes. Therefore, this study might provide valuable implications for athletes and coaches in terms of how sport can be utilized as a tool to gain life skills, how to transfer life skills in non-sport settings in a positive manner, and maximize the transferable nature of life skills by increasing awareness of this process itself and who might be influential in this process.

METHODS

In the following paragraphs, the used methods for the current study will be described and the chosen approach will be explained. Information is provided about the participants, including short descriptions of each athlete. In this section the processes of the data collection and the data analysis are described as well as how trustworthiness was established.

Qualitative Analysis and Phenomenological Approach

A qualitative and specifically a phenomenological approach (Creswell, 2007) were chosen for the current study. The phenomenological approach was chosen because this approach allows the researcher to describe the meaning for several individuals of their lived experiences of a certain concept. The description provides information about *what* the participants have experienced and *how* they did so (Moustakas, 1994). Therefore, this approach fits the purpose of the study allowing the researcher to explore the experiences of how the athletes have gained life skills through sport, whether and how these were used in other life domains, and which life skills' qualities the athletes have experienced in their life outside of sport.

Participants

Several criteria were determined to ensure all speed skaters were eligible for participation in this study. The first criterion was a minimum age of 21 years. This would ensure that all participants had some life experience and were able to reflect on previous experiences. The second criterion was a minimum of five years of competitive experience in speed skating. This would mean that the participants had a respectable amount of experience in the sport to be able to reflect on potential developmental experiences in their speed skating career. The third criterion was participation in a track team for a minimum period of one year (i.e., one speed skating season is from May to April the next year). This would ensure that all participants had a relatively similar upbringing in the sport in terms of facilities and level of coaches. Lastly, the speed skaters had to fit into one of the competition levels, regional, national, or elite level.

Purposeful sampling was used to ensure the participants met the set criteria. The researcher was able to get in contact with these athletes to recruit them. Six speed skaters, two male and four female, were contacted and all were willing to participate in the study. The age

range was between 21 and 48 years (M = 29.83, SD = 10.30). Four participants have ended their competitive speed skating career while two participants are still actively competing, one of which only in recreational competitions. The amount of experience in competitive speed skating ranged between 11 and 26 years, averaging at 17 years (SD = 5.87). In the following paragraphs, short descriptions of each participant are given to provide more information about their speed skating career and at which competition level they were active.

Athlete 1. Athlete 1 is a 21 year-old male, who is currently finalizing his studies in physical therapy. He started speed skating at 6 years old and raced competitively for 11 years. He was part of two track teams, each for one year. Afterwards, he became part of a privately funded competitive team for four years. In his career, he competed in several national competitions (in his age categories): National Championships All Round, National Championships Short Distance on natural ice, and twice at Holland Cup. He ended his speed skating career and is now actively competing in triathlons.

Athlete 2. Athlete 2 is a 48 year-old female and mother of three children. She has been racing competitively since the age of 7. She was involved in *Jong Oranje* (Youth National Team), *Kernploeg* (National Team), and later a commercial team. She has competed in National Championships in all age categories and twice in European Championships. Currently, she is still competing in recreational competitions.

Athlete 3. Athlete 3 is a 23 year-old female, who is currently combining her law studies and work. She started speed skating at the age of 6 and raced competitively for 16 years. She was part of a track team for one year and competed at regional level.

Athlete 4. Athlete 4 is a 26 year-old female, currently trainer and working towards a second master degree in manual therapy. She started speed skating at the age of 5 and raced competitively for 12 years. She was part of two track teams for a total of four years and competed in several National Championships.

Athlete 5. Athlete 5 is a 25 year-old male. He has been competing since he was 10 years old. He has been involved in track teams, *Jong Oranje*, and commercial teams. He participated in National Championships, European Championships, World Championships, and the Olympic Games. Currently, he is training for the next Olympic cycle.

Athlete 6. Athlete 6 is a 36 year-old female, mother of three children and trainer. She started speed skating at the age of 5, started racing competitively at 10 years old and did so for 22 years. She was part of a track team for one year and competed at regional level.

Data Collection

Participants who met the inclusion criteria were approached and invited to participate. All six participants took part in one face-to-face semi-structured interview (see Appendix A). The interview guide consisted of four main sections, namely demographics (e.g., How old are you now? What is the best way to reach you?), questions regarding their career itself (e.g., When did you start speed skating? How long have you been involved in competitive speed skating?), skills they had learned through sport that may be useful in life (e.g., What have you learned as a competitive speed skater? Do you find these skills helpful and can you use these outside sport?), and effects of these skills (e.g., Can you tell something about positive experiences you have had because you gained these skills?). Paraphrasing and follow-up questions were used to gather more detailed information. Five of the interviews took place at the participants' home and one in a quiet coffee café. All interviews were audio-recorded with the athletes' permission and transcribed verbatim. The interviews lasted between 50 and 90 minutes. After the interviews were transcribed verbatim, they were sent to the participant together with a summary of the interview regarding the purpose of the study. This way, the participants had the opportunity to verify the accuracy of the given information. All participants signed an informed consent form (see Appendix B) before actual participation. The study was reviewed and approved by the University of Thessaly's Ethics Committee.

Data Analysis

An inductive thematic analysis is used to analyze the data by following the six phases Braun and Clarke (2006) described. Thematic analysis is a method to identify, analyze, and report themes within data. For this study, a realist method is adopted to report experiences, meanings, and reality described by the participants. The inductive nature of the thematic analysis refers to identifying themes based on the obtained data, which is used in the current study.

Braun and Clarke (2006) described six phases for thematic analysis. Firstly, the researcher needs to familiarize themselves with the data. In the current study, the researcher did so by conducting the interviews, transcribing the interviews, and reading the data multiple times. Secondly, initial codes are generated. This was done first by hand using different colored pens, later this was entered into a Word-document. Thirdly, the researcher can start to look for themes and how these might relate to each other. Fourthly, the candidate themes are reviewed to check whether the codes fit together and subsequently whether the themes work with all data. Fifthly, the researcher can define and name the final themes. Here it is important to identify the core of each theme, how all themes work together, and whether themes might contain subthemes. At this stage the researcher wrote articulated descriptions of each theme and subtheme. The sixth and last step is to produce the report.

Establishing Trustworthiness

The researcher was previously acquainted with all six participants. The extent to which this was the case differed per participant. The researcher is acquainted with Athlete 1 from face-to-face contact at the ice rink both were actively skating at and training together. Athlete 2 is a member at the same speed skating club as the researcher and they see each other at social events of the club. The acquaintance with Athlete 3 is one with different angles: she was a peer in speed skating, went to the same high school and university as the researcher. The researcher is acquainted with Athlete 4 from face-to-face contact at the ice rink. The researcher skated together with Athlete 5 around the age of 10 at the small local speed skating club, now he is more a friend of the family. The acquaintance with Athlete 6 was also more developed, she is member of the same speed skating club, was the researcher's trainer at one point, and has now adopted more the role of a friend. Therefore, the researcher approached the participants either directly face-to-face, called them, or sent them a message via WhatsApp or Facebook. Moreover,

through being previously acquainted the participants might have felt more comfortable talking to the researcher and provided them the opportunity to be open.

In addition for establishing trustworthiness, all participants were given the verbatim-transcribed interviews including a summary of the interview regarding the purpose of the study to verify the accuracy of the given information. The participants were given an interview summary as a method to enhance the comprehensibility of the data. All participants agreed with how the information was presented in their transcription and summary.

Paraphrasing and follow-up questions during the interviews were methods to check whether the researcher understood the athletes correctly. Lastly, a second individual, the supervising professor, checked the coding and themes once those were established and corrections were made through mutual agreement.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The interviews have been analyzed by inductive thematic analysis. Three key themes are identified: (1) Development of Life Skills, (2) Developed Life Skills and (3) Transfers of Life Skills. All three key themes have second- and third-order themes. The first key theme has six second-order themes, one of which consists of two third-order themes. The second key theme has two second-order themes, one of which consists of three third-order themes. The last key theme has two second-order themes: the first consists of four third-order themes and the second of two third-order themes. The thematic map of the current study is included in Appendix C.

In the following sections, the development of life skills including external influences and how speed skating is a lifestyle, the life skills the athletes developed, the experienced positive and negative qualities of life skills, and the used strategies to transfer those life skills into non-sport contexts will be illustrated by quotes of the athletes. First, the development of life skills will be described. Second, a description is provided of which life skills the athletes developed including descriptions of the experienced qualities. Finally, the transfers of life skills will be described including the non-sport contexts the athletes used the gained life skills and which strategies they used to do so.

Development of Life Skills

One part of the purpose of this study was to explore how athletes developed life skills over the course of their speed skating career. This is captured by the first key theme:

Development of Life Skills. During the interviews athletes described external factors that influenced the development of their life skills, such as influences of their environment, their home situation, and their coaches. In addition, they were able to identify the impact of speed skating itself on their lives. This is also included in this theme. The descriptions of external influential factors and speed skating as a lifestyle will be discussed respectively in the following paragraphs.

External Factors

In this first subtheme of Development of Life Skills are descriptions included that refer to external influential factors in developing and transferring life skills. One's own interest is also included as external factor because others may have an influence on one's interest. The athletes mentioned how their environment, parents, coaches and teachers have influenced developmental processes. These are respectively the third-order themes of this subtheme.

Environment. The following quote is an example of the influence of environmental demands on the development of life skills:

You actually take quite a lot from sport then (...) I was almost forced to do so. There isn't more time to do home work or going to practices. So yeah... You learn [those skills] because you are forced. I wasn't conscious of the fact that I was learning skills at that moment. It just happened because it had to be done like this (...) otherwise I wouldn't be able to go to the ice rink.

This indicates that this athlete felt as if the environment forced her to learn and apply life skills. She was involved in an environment that required her to learn and apply life skills simultaneously to be successful in the perceived important areas of her life, namely high school and speed skating. This result is similar to the findings of Jones and Lavallee (2009b) that indicated how the female tennis player believed tennis put her in situations that enabled her to learn certain skills that she also found useful in other life domains. It can be argued that not sport itself taught her life skills but rather the interaction of the demands of two environments, sport and academia. This matches the findings of Kendellen and Camiré (2015), whose interviewed athletes mentioned this type of interaction of demands specifically.

Home. The home environment seemed to be important to all athletes. They all mentioned instances of how their family (i.e., parents and siblings) supported them in their speed skating careers (e.g., "I got a lot of support from home"). This is in line with the research findings of for example Camiré et al. (2009) who found that athletes mentioned to receive several types of support from their parents. Parents also sometimes enabled the athletes to learn specific skills:

Well, my dad has always been like with trainings or competitions, the night before, [name], prepare your stuff! Discipline, like my dad always said. Living in a structured

way, it is much easier to leave the next morning (...) [Discipline] is something I gained slowly... My dad often drew my attention to it (...) My dad has always been a great example for that (...) I have learned the structure, discipline, uh... He [my dad] showed me that.

Discipline could also be interpreted as a personal value, which is in result comparable to the findings of Holt et al. (2009) who found that the interaction between parents and athletes is valuable for instilling personal values such as taking own responsibility for actions. Both instances indicate that the situation at home and the relationship with parents are very valuable for an athlete to develop life skills.

Coaches and teachers. The following quote is an example of the influence of a teacher: In the beginning, I didn't have that. I think it has been a bit of trial and error. At one point someone said to me at school: 'Hey how do you that in your sport, when you cannot do something?' And from that moment, I have made that connection (...) Maybe it's not such a bad idea to approach my study like I do with my speed skating.

This indicates that people who have a significant role in an athlete's life outside of sport can also influence the transferring process of life skills. Through this question, the athlete was able to make the connection between speed skating and his studies, which as a result allowed him to enhance his academic performance. Therefore, the awareness that a skill may be useful in a different context is crucial, which was also indicated by for example Hayball and Jones (2016) stating that a coach might need to adopt an active role in creating this awareness.

Lifestyle

In this second subtheme of Development of Life Skills are descriptions included that refer to how life skills are learned because of the central role that speed skating had in one's life. Athletes mentioned instances of not being able to picture their life without speed skating, "I will continue speed skating because that flows through my blood. I cannot go without. [Because I enjoy it] that is also why I am trainer now and still skate once a week." One athlete similarly mentioned:

In the end you could see [speed skating] as your complete life of course. Speed skating is obviously a very big part and actually always has been the biggest part of my life.

This indicates that speed skating has had the lead role in his life and has been the major factor in his life in itself. Another athlete argued that she wasn't aware of the development of specific skills when she was younger:

I cannot remember that I was so conscious about [learning life skills]. It just happened that way. We just went to the ice rink. That was self-evident. (...) I just thought it was fun. I thought speed skating was fun. My social life was at the ice rink, friends... And yeah, home... I went to the ice rink with enjoyment.

This indicates that she has the perspective that learning life skills is a natural process that takes place over time besides the environment requirements. These findings are different to previous findings and therefore add to the existing literature.

Overall, athletes described that several external factors influenced the development of life skills in general. In addition, they indicated that speed skating was such a dominant aspect of their lives through which they automatically learned life skills. For the athletes, it seemed to be a natural process to approach tasks and challenges in a certain way because of the central role speed skating had in their lives.

Developed Life Skills

A second part of the purpose of the current study was to describe the life skills athletes have gained during their competitive speed skating career and which qualities of these skills athletes experience. This is captured in the second key theme: Developed Life Skills. During the interviews the athletes mentioned skills and descriptions that qualify as life skills. They described examples of goal directed behaviors, organizational skills, coping skills, focus skills, and developing a certain awareness, which they perceived as useful in other areas of their lives than sport. These descriptions of gained life skills and experienced qualities will be discussed respectively in the following paragraphs.

Goal Directed Behaviors

In this subtheme of Developed Life Skills are descriptions included that refer to goal directed behaviors. The athletes described their competitive attitude in sport and how they strived to be the best they could be. Athletes gave examples of goal setting and striving to win, "Yes that

is quite difficult to really name a skill but I think what I've got ready now is that in participating in sports you always have a goal, which you always work toward", and "Everything was centered around... I had to win. Even though I didn't give it my all, I still had to win." Another athlete mentioned an example of perseverance in her sport participation:

Keep going and whatever comes to you, you just keep going (...) In speed skating I've also had many setbacks but I still succeed. Uh... So, perseverance, I've [shown] that in speed skating... Also in the year when I wasn't in the track team but back at the club but [I] thought 'I will make it!'

These quotes show that athletes are aware of their goal directed behavior and are able to describe a large variety of behaviors that helped them to achieve their desired goals. This included goal setting, determination, perseverance, work ethic, and not giving up. These skills are in concurrence with findings of previous life skills studies showing that sport participation allows athletes to gain skills, for example goal setting (Jones & Lavallee, 2009b) and perseverance (Camiré & Trudel, 2010).

Organizational Skills

In this subtheme of Developed Life Skills are descriptions included that refer to organizational skills. The athletes mentioned using skills such as time management, planning, organizing, and prioritizing as useful skills to manage their speed skating career and any other aspects that were simultaneously important. For example, "I am someone who, kind of, can live really structured because of my elite sport and besides my elite sport." Another athlete mentioned to have learned to prioritize not only in speed skating but also in his studies:

And you learn to give up a lot and to do a lot for [speed skating] And... I also do that for my studies right now for example. I can quite easily cast things aside because it doesn't fit into the route I had planned.

The athletes described that they could not only use these skills in their speed skating career but also in contexts outside of sport, such as their job and study. Time management is one of the more frequently mentioned learned life skills through sport (e.g., Camiré et al., 2009; Hayball & Jones, 2016; Jones & Lavallee, 2009b; Kendellen & Camiré, 2015).

Coping Skills

In this subtheme of Developed Life Skills are descriptions included that refer to coping skills. The athletes described that they have learned how to cope with stress, pressure, setbacks, and expectations. The majority also mentioned they had learned how to put things into perspective. All these skills can be used in other contexts than sport as well. One athlete mentioned, "In sports you can learn to put those setbacks into perspective." This type of coping skills has appeared in previous research (e.g., Hayball & Jones, 2016; Kendellen & Camiré, 2015). Another quote that is illustrative for this subtheme of coping skills is the following:

Acidification, you don't have that when you just do sports... because you're not pushing your boundaries. Because it doesn't matter how fast you run... And that is something that I notice in my daily life, because you know how to suffer, you've learned to be stress resistant. You've learned how to cope with that. (...) And that is something that is very positive for me.

Focus Skills

In this subtheme of Developed Life Skills are descriptions included that refer to skills that helped athletes concentrate or focus on the task at hand. The athletes mentioned instances of adapting their focus and switching between being concentrated first and having attention for the bigger picture second. For example an athlete mentioned:

[Concentration] is something, I always said that... In training, when you do something, when you get an instruction then I will be focused on that and when I am finished with that I don't have to be focused anymore and there is space for a chat, fun, and jokes...

In addition, the athletes named examples of having to focus on themselves in for example competition settings but in exams as well:

That you, kind of, that you do your own thing and that someone else does that in a completely different way and you can still follow your plan and stay in your own thing. If a classmate starts talking before such an exam, then I do not ignore it but I do not get myself involved in it (...) Just like with competitions. There are a lot of people who are really anxious the whole race day, who do not eat and are super nervous... I more or less ignore that. I don't let it influence myself. So in that way you're quite egoistic, in a sense that you do your own thing and that you don't get influenced by others and someone who

has a bad influence on me, you can kind of put a wall up for them. Uh, that you really are busy with yourself (...) you are really focused on yourself.

Awareness

In this subtheme of Developed Life Skills are descriptions included that refer to personal development and self-awareness. The athletes mentioned on several instances how they personally developed through their participation in competitive speed skating:

Mostly that I developed myself and learned a lot about myself. Yes [speed skating] also brought me lot in that way. Uh... I've learned a lot and it brought me a lot that is obviously linked (...) The most important is that I've learned about myself and because of that [I] have a different perspective on life. Strengths and weaknesses also clearly appear then. What you can and cannot handle.

They also described learning about themselves mentally and physically. Another athlete described namely:

But sport did teach me to know and feel what such an emotion is that I can handle. (...)
And I did learn from sport that it isn't good... You get to know your mental and physical state so well that you know exactly where you are.

They could not only use these types of awareness during their sport but also in their daily lives. The development of awareness is closely related to the overall concept of positive youth development and has previously been fostered through organized activities (e.g., Hansen et al., 2003) but has not been directly found in studies examining competitive athletes.

Experienced Qualities

In this subtheme of Developed Life Skills are descriptions included that refer to experiences of positive and negative qualities of life skills. These qualities impact athletes' lives outside of sport because they have and use these life skills. For example, strategies to cope with stress allow athletes to stay calmer in their daily lives, whereas perfectionism might be experienced as debilitative outside of sport.

Positive qualities. Athletes mentioned several instances in which they experience positive qualities of their gained life skills. They were able to describe for example how their approaches allowed them to succeed:

Yeah, I think [having these skills] makes sure... Like what I said about that preparing for an exam that you can do that according to a certain planning and that you can concentrate in a specific way to prepare. Uh... That it actually works and that a lot of things work out. Plus that I know when I cannot do something right now and I invest time in it and work on it, I can become better at it. (...) That faith of investing in something and you handle it in a specific way, you can have confidence that things will work out.

In addition, one athlete described how having and using these skills allow him to be a nicer person:

It sounds very cliché but it makes you a nicer person, that's just how it is. (...) You become a nicer person. And in the end, when you live this way and you can incorporate others in your successes or feelings, you know. What I said, I would get to all those clichés again... When you do what you like and you do that in a structured way and you can take your environment with you. Firstly, it is much nicer for the people around you to work with you and to be with you. You get a certain appreciation or uh... How do you say that? How shall we call it? [Get] love back from someone. [Get] appreciation back and I experience that as really nice.

This is a clear example of how life skills affect one's overall development as a person alongside their qualities in sports.

Negative qualities. Athletes mentioned instances where they experienced negative qualities of normally positive skills. One athlete described for example:

I found myself [through speed skating] and I've learned things and you take those with you in the things that you do now. Sometimes it also works against you. I am very perfectionistic from myself, I've always been like that. That doesn't... It is good but it is also a weakness of course. A pitfall. [I] started driving lessons and [I] thought that after three times I could drive. That doesn't make any sense but that is that perfectionism. Also in my work, I want to do it perfectly. However, that is just impossible. At school, I wanted to do it perfectly, but that is just impossible. So, in my eyes I fail. That really

counteracts me of course (...) I am not doing it like it should be exactly, for me it feels like failing when that is actually not in place. So, you actually get a misplaced fail, if you will.

This quote illustrates that athletes experience perfectionism in some situations as facilitative and it helps them to achieve their goals. However, in other instances, they experience perfectionism as debilitative because they feel as if they failed in their performance, even though this might have been out of place. This particular athlete tried and expected to succeed too quickly and did not allow herself the chance to undergo the developmental process.

A second athlete illustrated with the following quote how striving for the best result leads to being impatient and not being able to stop or give up:

And now... I need to learn to give in. That is a min from the sport... You cannot give up. Or you feel like you can't give up. And that is actually not true. (...) But where I struggle a lot is that I don't have much patience toward others. Because I am very strong in that. When I want to do something, I will just put everything in it. But others don't have that. Or at least, other people might not have that point of view. (...) Now I am still pushing boundaries I notice that in my job as well. I don't have a high position. It's more like a supportive position. But I am always trying to perfect and improve the process. And I think that is uh... a part of the past, of my sport past. Always looking for something that can be better, can be improved, maybe can be more efficient... In that time, you've always worked in a team that had the same goal in mind... A coach, the chef, the doctor, you name it... And now you're in a team of people who just come to work from 9 till 5 and they just uh... They don't have the experience to bring something to a success. (...) How simple something is... When I go and work in my garden, so then, what are we talking about, right? But then I still want to finish it properly. I also have that in the house, it just needs to be nice. I don't want to say that it is something compulsive but that originates in my sport. That it just needs to go well. But I think you need that when you want to deliver an elite performance. And it isn't egoism but you're behaving egocentrically. That is something that I need to look out for in my work or in my family life... You place yourself on a higher level but the others are still there (motions hands into two levels). That is something I now struggle with. And [I] don't have the patience to let the others do it their way. You expect that they would have the same attitude but they

don't have that (...) And that is in sports, you are so dependent on your own body and your soul that you need to do it yourself. When you think like, 'now I can't anymore', you think, 'now you cannot go back anymore'... That [is something] you encounter everywhere... That is such a pitfall, that you just want way too much.

Overall, the athletes were able to identify a variety of life skills they had gained through their competitive speed skating career. The majority of the mentioned life skills were related to goal directed behaviors, however, a big portion of the named skills had to do with coping with stressors. The athletes were also able to identify and name examples of not only positive but also negative qualities of life skills. The experiences with negative qualities of life skills were most apparent when athletes described taking perfectionism and perseverance a notch too far, which results in (physically and mentally) continuing and not giving up. These findings of experienced positive and negative qualities of life skills add to the existing body of literature in a way that this concept provides a new perspective on life skills.

Transfers of Life Skills

A third part of the purpose of the current study was to describe how athletes transfer life skills into non-sport contexts and which strategies they use to do this. This is captured in the third key theme: Transfers of Life Skills. During the interviews the athletes mentioned a variety of examples of non-sport domains in which they use the learned life skills. In addition, they described several strategies they use to apply life skills not only in sport but also in non-sport settings. In the next paragraphs, the non-sport contexts in which the athletes are able to apply their gained life skills are discussed, followed by the strategies they use to do so.

Contexts

In this first subtheme of Transfers of Life Skills are descriptions included that refer to non-sport contexts in which the athletes apply and can use the learned life skills. The athletes were able to identify and name many examples of various non-sport contexts in which they can apply the skills they have learned in speed skating, such as their study, work, daily and family life. These are respectively the third-order themes of this subtheme.

Academics. One of the contexts athletes mentioned on multiple occasions was the use of a variety of life skills in their studies. One of the athletes mentioned for example the use of planning and perseverance at university:

Like, right now, I will be graduating soon and I have made a planning to be finished at the correct time and to have finished everything. To actually be finished at that time I have also scheduled to finish this topic in that week, that topic in that week. Also according to a certain structure. I am relying on that... if I don't follow that it won't be finished on time. So, through which it is also easier to keep that schedule and not be behind. I also try to see [school and speed skating] as the same. When something doesn't work out in speed skating, that you will train for that... so that you will be able to that. At school, I do the same. When I cannot do something, cannot do YET, I will work on that until I can... and invest time! Not in an unguided manner, just doing something... But really make a planning for it to get that structure in it.

This indicates a direct transfer of the skills planning and perseverance, which are learned in sport and now are used in a non-sport context. The transfer of life skills into academia is a relatively known concept and has been identified by other researchers as well (e.g., Jones & Lavallee, 2009b). The athlete in that study mentioned how her sport allowed her to be successful in her academics because she was able to see the similarities between the contexts.

Work. Another often-mentioned environment in which life skills could be applied was at work. Athletes mentioned for example how they used goal setting at their job to reach specific deadlines, which sometimes were self-made:

Setting goals is now a bit less in my job. But well, certain tasks need to be finished before a specific date. Or that I set that deadline for myself. Like, this needs to be done and I want to have finished that by [this date]. And sometimes other tasks need to make way for [those]. Then I just do that tomorrow, the next day, or next week but I will work this morning or this afternoon just on this. Just because I want to finish that and otherwise you will take that with you in your backpack and that isn't what you want. You just want to finish it.

There were also many examples of how athletes could use coping skills at work:

Yeah, in a competition you need to as well. You need to perform under pressure because that's when it needs to happen, then [your] technique needs to be good, yeah... I think, when I transfer that to my work... also when it is really busy and stress and pressure, you can do your job. I still think that it hard to handle sometimes but I have learned to handle that a bit better (laughs).

This quote indicates that athletes are able to use coping skills in the work setting to function better in their job. These findings of transfers to the work context are fresh, as the existing literature has mainly studied younger athletes who were naturally not at this stage of their lives yet.

Daily and family life. The third non-sport context in which athletes were able to use life skills was in their daily and family life. One athlete specifically mentioned that she uses coping skills in this context:

That is that piece of being stress resistant that I've learned and experienced in sports... Like, when it is windy or it's raining... Oh. Hm. It's not going to be great today. But, we're going to make the best out of it anyway. And I have the same in my family and private life as well. Okay... this is a big setback, what now. You don't panic. I don't want to say that setbacks don't affect you anymore, not at all... But you have learned how to deal with them and how to handle it.

The following quote illustrates how an athlete uses prioritizing in her daily life by comparing a potential world trip and the job she is in right now:

So, I know for example, I also want to do a world trip, that is something that has been on my planning for a very long time now... But I also want to have a good job. So, I know that I need to leave [the world trip] for a bit. You cannot just say: 'Okay, I am leaving for about half a year!' I think that [my job] is more important at the moment and [the world trip] will come later. Prioritizing by achieving this first and going on a world trip is something I per se want to do but that has to wait for now. You cannot spend [money] twice. So, therefore, I find [my job] more important right now and therefore I am also at peace about that.

Similar to the previously discussed subtheme, the athletes in the current study are a bit older and therefore have experiences in for example balancing their own life, work, and having another role in the family such as being a mother in contrast to previous conducted studies.

Other. Besides the abovementioned contexts, the athletes also described other contexts in which they can use their life skills and this miscellaneous bunch of contexts is included in this third-order theme. The athletes were able to describe that they use for example planning in all life domains:

Like I said, speed skating and school, everything else was built around that. Once in a while, I saw someone and that was it. Sometimes you had a family birthday in the weekend but that was it. So [I] absolutely learned how to plan. That is something that you take with you in your whole life actually, I think. That is something that you have learned and that you do well. So, that is something that you take with you.

One of the athletes mentioned that she strives for the best result in all her life domains and not just in sport:

Coming up with things that would make it possible. For example... Now... I am working as a recruiter and I've wanted that for a long time. So then I already know that I will do everything [so] that I would succeed. So I have this very strongly now with jobs to name an example. But I think I have that in everything. When I want something super bad, I just make a complete plan of how I will accomplish that.

Similar to this quote is the following example of another athlete indicating that he uses goal setting in all his life domains:

I am always setting goals. That is one thing you really gain from being an elite athlete. You set a goal, you have something in mind and you work towards that. You first write out how or what. So it actually works the same way as being in shape. Like the basic conditioning, you make a broad base and work towards that top shape. That is the exact same with setting goals. You first make a plan and then you work towards your goal.

Strategies

In this second subtheme of Transfers of Life Skills are descriptions included that refer to strategies to use life skills in either sport or non-sport settings. The athletes were able to provide clear descriptions of how they use life skills in real life settings. For instance, an athlete described a strategy to not only deal with stress that comes along with competitions but also in exams by interpreting stress positively:

And at the moment when I was at the start, I got the pressure back. But then, I always tried to approach that as that anxiety that I feel right now, I need that, because through [that] my body makes itself ready to perform. So instead of that I led that anxiety hinder me, I kind of postponed the moment of stress to just before the start... And then I knew I needed it. And that it wasn't wrong. In that way, I could cope with that. The same thing, I have that with exams for example. For school, and uhm... With a lot of things that can cause a little bit of stress, I try to approach them the same way. And also the idea that it's not bad to be stressed for something or tense, that it is actually quite good.

Besides coping with stress, he mentioned a strategy for goal setting and planning to make sure his thesis was finished in time:

I will be graduating soon and I have made a planning to be finished at the correct time and to have finished everything. To actually be finished at that time I have also scheduled to finish this topic in that week, that topic in that week. Also according to a certain structure. I am relying on that... if I don't follow that it won't be finished on time. So, through which it is also easier to keep that schedule and not be behind.

The athletes were not only asked about descriptions of life skills but also to what extent the use of their skills was either a conscious or an unconscious process for them. This will be discussed next.

Conscious. Only on a few occasions an athlete mentioned how the use of life skills was a conscious process. This athlete namely described that living structured is a structured process in itself:

It really is a structured process to [live structured and disciplined]. It is also easy to let go of it... A simple example is when... That is the same as organizing and cleaning a room, that is how I compare it. When you put a pile of laundry on the floor, you'll put the second pile next to it and the third will be even easier. While when you clean it, wash it immediately, fold it and put it in your wardrobe. Then it is good. But you got to do that...

It's actually easier to do it immediately every time than that you park it all for a bit and have to do everything at once. I have learned that. I've become conscious of that, yes.

This indicates that he consciously chooses to live in a structured way because he has experienced that this allows him to create an overview in his life, which in result helps him to stay calmer overall.

Unconscious. However, much more examples were given that indicate that athletes are unaware of the use of their life skills. One athlete namely mentioned:

I also think that you do some things just unconsciously. Being involved in sports is really a way of life at one point. Everything else is planned around it. Trainings are at specific times, so you plan school, which is also an obligation, you plan it in such a way that it fits nicely... For example, going out, you plan it around your trainings. So that whole being involved in sports is such a fixed part that you actually are focused on that 24/7. Skills that you get from there... It is like, as if everything you do is for your sport. That is how it feels. That you also use those skills in other things, that is more or less unconscious. Uh... yeah... So that is so much a way of life and such a strategy that you uh... yeah... It is also a type of flow, I think. It is not really conscious, like, these skills I use here and those like this. You kind of grow up in it... Because it is such a lifestyle that it's just the way it is, it is not possible differently. That is how it sometimes feels. Yes, it happens to me a bit, you know. And that I do it that way... that is just logic, I always do it like that. I surely do that in a training as well. Do you think it is weird that you... An exam, it's just logic that you prepare for that?! You also do that for a competition, right? You also adapt your training. Those are very... For me very logical things. Because you always do it like that.

The second example is from another athlete mentioning how she can use coping with stress at her job on the automatic pilot:

You're functioning... Normally you're functioning on the automatic pilot, you don't even think about it anymore. Something that I hear a lot from people is that: 'Yeah but you do that so easily' and uh... 'You put that next to you so easily, when it doesn't go well.' But well, what do I gain when I get stressed out? (...) Well... Automatic pilot... At a certain point, you uh... You work in certain routines. But we still have certain peak moments. At

those times it really is just not thinking and just doing. And I don't get panicked by that. You know, let's say that when your deadline is approaching, I don't panic. People can get very nervous: 'I am not going to make it, not going to make it...' But I have something like: 'Keep calm, we will make it.'

These examples indicate that at one point one might have realized one has certain skills that can be used in non-sport settings but this has turned into such a habit that one doesn't have to think about using the skills anymore. In result, the unconscious use of life skills implies a certain automatic nature of applying life skills in other life domains.

Overall, the athletes were able to identify some strategies they use that allowed them to apply gained life skills in non-sport contexts. It seemed however that the use of life skills is a relatively unconscious process for the athletes. It can be argued that the athletes have become so familiar with the use of these skills that they do not have to think about it anymore and it seems to 'happen' to them. However, it can be valuable for athletes to have coaches who make them aware of the possible transfers. These findings of strategies for transfers of life skills and the (un)conscious nature of them seem to be a first addition to the existing research. This will need to be explored more in-depth.

Competition Levels

A second purpose of the current study was to compare the development and transfer processes of athletes across three competition levels in speed skating. The athletes involved in this study had namely been active at regional, national, or elite competition level. In the following paragraphs, the athletes will be compared based on their competition level in the three identified key themes, Development of Life Skills, Developed Life Skills, and Transfers of Life Skills, respectively.

Development of Life Skills

The comparison of the development of life skills of the athletes in the three competition levels shows that all athletes mentioned how external influences had impacted the development of life skills. The national and elite athletes referred more to the influence and support from their family and their coaches, whereas the regional athletes also mentioned the impact and the demands of the environment. More specifically, one regional athlete mentioned how the

environment 'forced' her to learn specific skills and live in a certain way because there was 'no other way'. Even though she did enjoy spending so much time at the ice rink it implies that she was put in an environment that required her to learn the appropriate skills to be successful across life domains. The other regional athlete however mentioned how the environment's requirements became too much and made her question her choice as being part of the track team. This resulted in her quitting the track team. Later she joined speed skating again and participated in recreational competitions. In contrast, the national and elite athletes mentioned how speed skating was a (very) big part of their lives but they experienced this as something positive and self-evident. This allowed them to experience the use of life skills as natural and logic.

Developed Life Skills

The comparison of athletes' developed life skills indicates that regional level athletes mentioned fewer developed life skills than the athletes active at national or elite level. The elite athletes described to have gained the most life skills throughout their sports career by far. Why do elite athletes describe to have developed more life skills?

It could be argued that athletes involved in elite sports are faced with situations that know higher stakes than regional athletes. They might be faced more often with adversity and setbacks, which they need to learn how to cope with. Even though the amount of years of experience in competitive speed skating was relatively similar across the three levels, for the elite athletes was more at stake during these years than for the regional level athletes. The elite athletes themselves did not mention specifically how the environment had required them to learn skills. However, they both mentioned the impact that speed skating has made on them and others and the major role speed skating had in their lives.

In terms of the experienced qualities of life skills all athletes described experiences of both positive and negative qualities. All athletes mentioned experiencing a variety of positive qualities of life skills such as that certain skills bring a type of calmness and that the skills allow them to be confident in their own capacity. However, there were some differences regarding the experienced negative qualities of life skills. The elite athletes mentioned instances in which they were unable to give up on for example a performance whether that is running a marathon, cleaning up the garden or helping others to become better. The national athletes mentioned perfectionism and planning as pitfalls. One takes perfectionism a notch too far to the point where

it becomes debilitative for her and the other is unable to deviate in the slightest form from his planning. The regional athletes also mention a negative quality of the life skill striving for best, which is also taken too far and doesn't allow for enjoyment of the process.

Transfers of Life Skills

The comparison of the athletes in the three competition levels shows that they do not really differ in terms of their transfer processes of life skills into non-sport settings. It only seems that the elite athletes are somewhat more aware of their skills and they can therefore use these more purposefully in other contexts. The regional athletes on the other hand were less aware of whether and how they use skills in non-sport contexts. However, they did provide examples of transfers of life skills. This implies that they do transfer skills but are just relatively unaware of this process. Therefore, they seem to be less likely to be able to transfer life skills and get the same quality of this transfer as national or elite athletes.

Overall, some differences between the competition levels can be identified in this study for the development and transfer processes of the developed life skills. The elite athletes seem to develop more life skills through the guidance from coaches and parents, which they can purposefully apply in other life domains than sport, more so than regional or national athletes. Moreover, elite athletes seem to be more aware of the experienced positive and negative qualities of life skills and can therefore look out for this. The findings regarding the differences across competition levels add a new concept to the existing body of research and allow for further exploration.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

This study explored how athletes develop and transfer life skills across domains. The findings indicate that athletes are able to describe the influential factors on the development of life skills, a variety of skills and their experienced qualities, and numerous non-sport life domains in which they find the skills useful. Moreover, they described strategies they use to make this transfer.

The findings of the current study are similar to those of existing literature regarding the influences of the environment (e.g., Jones & Lavallee, 2009), parents (e.g., Camiré et al., 2009), and coaches (Hayball & Jones, 2016) on the development of life skills. Athletes indicated namely that the demands of the environment and the support of parents and coaches helped them develop life skills. The types of life skills (goal directed behaviors, organizational skills, coping skills, focus skills, and awareness) the athletes developed were also similar to those studies. An often-mentioned context in which life skills can be used is academia (e.g., Jones & Lavallee, 2009), which the current study was no exception for. Newly identified subthemes in the current study are speed skating as a lifestyle, the experienced life skills' qualities, and the strategies the athletes use to transfer their skills into other life domains either consciously or unconsciously.

Where this study extends the existing body of literature is regarding the finding that athletes describe that their sport had the central role in their lives. This allows them to develop and use skills over time through for them a seemingly natural process. Descriptions of used strategies to transfer life skills and experienced qualities of life skills also add to the previously conducted life skills studies. The athletes of the current study were able to identify that on some occasions transfers happen consciously but more than not this transfer process appears to be automatic. Athletes described how life skills allowed them to experience positive qualities but they were also aware of the negative qualities some life skills have. Strategies used for transferring life skills and the experienced qualities of life skills are two new concepts in the literature that demand further research.

The current study explored the development and transfers of life skills by interviewing (former) athletes using a phenomenological approach. The athletes were all Dutch speed skaters, who had been involved in a certain competition level. The majority of the athletes had ended their competitive speed skating careers. Since these athletes were older, they were at different life stages than athletes involved in previous studies. Neither the athletes nor their coaches had

been involved in any kind of formal life skills program or training. This suggests that the studied athletes developed life skills really from their sport participation and the environment they were in. This reproduces previous findings (e.g., Hayball & Jones, 2016; Jones & Lavallee, 2009b; Kendellen & Camiré, 2015) that indicated that athletes are able to develop life skills because they are faced with interactions of several environmental demands. Coaches and parents pointing to the similarities between sport and academics or other aspects of life would contribute to the awareness and application of skills in other life domains. Hayball and Jones (2016) already suggested that coaches should adopt an active role in creating this type of awareness and the current results point in the same direction.

Since the athletes had been involved in different competition levels, this allowed for comparing their development and use of life skills, which has not been done before. The comparison indicated that elite athletes developed the most life skills, were more aware of them, and therefore may be able to use them more purposefully. This suggests that athletes on lower competition levels may need more direction from their coaches and parents to be made aware of the usefulness of the gained skills in other contexts.

Differences in terms of the used participants to the already existing literature are thus that the athletes had been involved in a specific competition level, the majority had ended their career, and were naturally older. These differences in athletes' characteristics did lead to both similar and different results compared to the existing body of literature. The athletes did mention similar kinds of life skills as previously found (e.g., Camiré et al., 2009; Jones & Lavallee, 2009b), however, they also described which life skills' qualities they experience in their daily lives and which strategies they use to transfer the skills. These results indicate that athletes, who have ended their competitive careers and are more mature, are more capable of reflecting on their developmental processes through their sport participation. In addition, the athletes mentioned different influential factors that were important for their developmental and transfer processes, which may indicate that the different competition levels come along with different needs.

A new line in the life skills research has been proposed, namely life skills in retrospect. In this line of research, former athletes' perceptions of their gained life skills and whether they find these skills useful in other contexts are explored. Until this study, only a few studies have explored this concept with former athletes. This approach brings the opportunity to gain a deeper understanding of life skills development and transfers because athletes who are not actively

competing anymore are more capable of identifying the valuable lessons they have learned during their sports career and indicating what is useful for them today and for their daily functioning and strivings out of sport. In addition, new concepts related to life skills can be identified in this line of research. Former athletes are namely not only more aware of strategies they use to transfer their skills into non-sport settings but they are also much more aware of the qualities that life skills have and how these affect them. This line of research adds a more practical point of view to the already identified three lines in life skills research. The new fourth line has more applicable value for those involved in competitive sports because both athletes and coaches can learn from the experiences of former competitive athletes.

Implications

These results might be valuable for currently competing athletes, their parents, and their coaches. All can benefit from the gained understanding of the development and transfers of life skills. Coaches and parents can play a significant role in both processes. Coaches do not need to explicitly teach their athletes life skills or teach them how to transfer those skills to other life domains. They can however adopt an active standpoint in creating more awareness in their athletes that sport provides them the opportunity to learn such skills that are also useful in other life contexts than sport. This indication will make the athletes more likely to learn and develop the skills they could use across contexts. Moreover, coaches can take an active position in making their athletes aware of the potential qualities of life skills. Athletes could namely experience both positive and negative qualities of life skills. Therefore, it may be important for coaches and parents to provide athletes with accurate support to stimulate experiencing the positive qualities and to prevent experiencing the negative qualities.

Limitations

The comparison between competition levels regarding developing and transferring life skills should be interpreted with caution because of the limited number of participants in each category. All athletes had a similar background in speed skating because they were all part of a track team at one stage of their speed skating career. Therefore, these findings are only relevant for a certain group of athletes for this moment. Also, it appeared that the participants were in

different life stages due to the differences in age, which made comparing the athletes in this study a bit more complicated.

Future Directions

This study is among the first qualitative studies exploring the development and transfers of life skills in former athletes, which tries to compare the athletes based on the competition level they were active in. The similarities and differences in the processes and experienced qualities of life skills can be valuable information for all parties involved. Just a very few athletes will achieve it to compete at elite level, whereas the majority stays to compete at regional or national level. This results in a very few athletes making a living off of sports while the majority needs to do this in other ways, such as working in a 'regular' job, in which life skills can play a valuable role. Future studies can explore those similarities and differences more in-depth to gain a deeper understanding how life skills can be used in different contexts and how athletes involved in all levels can maximize experiencing the positive qualities of life skills, and especially what the role of the coach and parents should be. In addition, future studies could include and explore the influences of individual factors such as personal interests, inclinations, and talents on life skills development to generate a broadened understanding. Lastly, focusing on only former athletes would allow future researchers to create a more complete picture because the athletes will be able to describe their experiences from a retrospective point of view.

Conclusion

This research was set up to explore the development and transfers of life skills into other domains in former speed skaters. The interviewed athletes showed to have developed a variety of life skills through their participation in competitive speed skating and were able to transfer these into other life domains. They were aware of factors influencing the development of life skills and could describe the qualities of life skills they experienced in their lives. Since sport brings one the opportunity to positive youth development, coaches do not need to explicitly teach life skills. However, they need to adopt an active role to make their athletes aware that they can learn skills through their sport and use these outside of sport as well. Elite athletes seem to develop more life skills in their sport careers through the guidance of coaches and parents, they can use these skills

purposefully in other contexts, and they are more aware of the qualities life skills have than the athletes at regional or national level. In general, it is believed that life skills research will benefit from conducting more studies that explore the complexity of the development, transfers, and qualities of life skills by using former athletes.

References

- Bar-Or, O. (1983). *Pediatric sports medicine for the practitioner: From physiologic principles to clinical application*. New York: Springer Verlag. doi:10.1007/978-1-4612-5593-2
- Benson, P. L. (1997). All kids are our kids: What communities must do to raise caring and responsible children and adolescents. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Benson, P. L., Leffert, N., Scales, P. C., & Blyth, D. A. (1998). Beyond the 'village' rhetoric: Creating healthy communities for children and adolescents. *Applied Developmental Science*, 2(3), 138-159. doi:10.1207/s1532480xads0203 3
- Benson, P. L., Scales, P. C., Hamilton, S. F., & Sesma, A., Jr. (2006). Positive youth development: Theory, research, and application. In W. Damon & R. M. Lerner (Series Eds.) & R. M. Lerner (Vol. Ed.), *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 1 Theoretical methods of human development* (6th ed., pp. 894-941). New York: Wiley.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Brooks, D. J. (1984). A life skills taxonomy: Defining elements of effective functioning through the use of the Delphi technique. Unpublished doctoral dissertation. The University of Georgia.
- Bruner, M. W., Eys, M. A., Wilson, K. S., & Côté, J. (2014). Group cohesion and positive youth development in team sport athletes. *Sport, Exercise, and Performance Psychology*, *3*(4), 219-227. doi:10.1037/spy0000017
- Camiré, M., & Trudel, P. (2010). High school athletes' perspectives on character development through sport participation. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, *15*(2), 193-207. doi:10.1080/17408980902877617
- Camiré, M., Trudel, P. & Bernard, D. (2013). A case study of a high school sport program designed to teach athletes life skills and values. *The Sport Psychologist*, 27(2), 188-200.
- Camiré, M., Trudel, P. & Forneris, T. (2009). High school athletes' perspectives on support, negotiation processes, and life skill development. *Qualitative Research in Sport, Exercise and Health, 1*(1), 72–88. doi:10.1080/19398440802673275
- Camiré, M., Trudel, P., & Forneris, T. (2012). Coaching and transferring life skills: Philosophies and strategies used by model high school coaches. *The Sport Psychologist*, 26(2), 243-260.

- Coakley, J. (2011). Youth sports: What counts as "positive development?" *Journal of Sport and Social Issues*, 35(3), 306-324. doi:10.1177/0193723511417311
- Coalter, F. (2007). A wider social role for sport: Who's keeping the score? London, UK: Routledge.
- Creswell, J. W. (2007). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. London, UK: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Danish, S. J. (2002). Teaching life skills through sport. In M. J. Gatz, M. A. Messner, & S. J. Ball-Rokeach (Eds.). *Paradoxes of youth and sport* (pp. 49-60). Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Danish, S. J., Meyer, A., Mash, J., Howard, C., Curl, S., Brunelle, J., & Owens, S. (1998). *Going for the goal: Student activity book* (2nd ed.). Department of Psychology, Virginia Commonwealth University.
- Danish, S. J., & Nellen, V. C. (1997). New roles for sport psychologists: Teaching life skills through sport to at-risk youth. *Quest*, 49(1), 100-113. doi:10.1080/00336297.1997.10484226
- Danish, S., Taylor, T., Hodge, K., & Heke, I. (2004). Enhancing youth development through sport. *World Leisure Journal*, *46*(3), 38-49. doi:10.1080/04419057.2004.9674365
- Dworkin, J. B., Larson, R., & Hansen, D. (2003). Adolescents' accounts of growth experiences in youth activities. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 32(1), 17-26. doi:10.1023/A:1021076222321
- Fraser-Thomas, J. L., Côté, J., & Deakin, J. (2005). Youth sport programs: An avenue to foster positive youth development. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, *10*(1), 19-40. doi:10.1080/1740898042000334890
- Gilbert, W. D., Gilbert, J. N., & Trudel, P. (2001a). Coaching strategies for youth sports. Part 1: Athlete behavior and athlete performance. *JOPERD*, 72(4), 29–33. doi:10.1080/07303084.2001.10605736
- Gilbert, W. D., Gilbert, J. N., & Trudel, P. (2001b). Coaching strategies for youth sports. Part 2: Personal characteristics, parental influence, and team organization. *JOPERD*, 72(5), 41–45. doi:10.1080/07303084.2001.10605752
- Goudas, M. (2010). Prologue: A review of life skills teaching in sport and physical education. *Hellenic Journal of Psychology*, 7(3), 241-258.

- Goudas, M., Dermitzaki, I., Leondari, A., & Danish, S. (2006). The effectiveness of teaching a life skills program in a physical education context. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 21(4), 429-438. doi:10.1007/BF03173512
- Goudas, M., & Giannoudis, G. (2008). A team-sports-based life skills program in a physical education context. *Learning and Instruction*, *18*(6), 538-546. doi:10.1016/j.learninstruc.2007.11.002
- Gould, D., & Carson, S. (2008). Life skills development though sport: Current status and future directions. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 1(1), 58-78. doi:10.1080/17509840701834573
- Gould, D., Carson, S., Fifer, A., Lauer, L., & Benham, R. (2009a). Social emotional and life skill development issues characterizing today's high school sport experience. *Journal of Coaching Education*, 2, 1-15.
- Gould, D., Carson, S., Fifer, A., Lauer, L., & Benham, R. (2009b). Stakeholders' perceptions of social-emotional and life skill development issues characterizing contemporary high school sports. *Journal of Coaching Education*, 2(1), 1-25.
- Gould, D., Chung, Y., Smith, P., & White, J. (2006). Future directions in coaching life skills: Understanding high school coaches' views and needs. *Athletic Insight: The Online Journal of Sport Psychology*, 8(3), 28-38. Available from http://athleticinsight.com/Vol8Iss3/CoachingLifeSkills.htm
- Gould, D., Collins, K., Lauer, L., & Chung, Y. (2007). Coaching life skills through football: A study of award winning high school coaches. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 19(1), 16-37. doi:10.1080/10413200601113786
- Gould, D., Flett, R., & Lauer, L. (2012). The relationship between psychosocial developmental and the sports climate experienced by underserved youth. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *13*(1), 80-87. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2011.07.005
- Hansen, D. M., Larson, R. W., & Dworkin, J. B. (2003). What adolescents learn in organized youth activities: A survey of self-reported developmental experiences. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *13*(1), 25-55. doi:10.1111/1532-7795.1301006
- Hayball, F., & Jones, M. I. (2016). Life after sport? Examining life skill transfer following withdrawal from sport and compulsory physical education. *Sport and Exercise Psychology Review*, *12*(1), 4-13.

- Health Canada (2003). Canada's physical activity guide to healthy active living. Available online from http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/hppb/paguide/pdf/guideEng.pdf (accessed 29 May 2016)
- Hellison, D. (2003). *Teaching responsibility through physical activity*, 2nd ed. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Holt, N. L., Tamminen, K. A., Tink, L. N., & Black, D. E. (2009). An interpretive analysis of life skills associated with sport participation. *Qualitative Research in Sport and Exercise*, *1*(2), 160-175. doi:10.1080/19398440902909017
- Holt, N. L., Tink, L. N., Mandigo, J. L., & Fox, K. R. (2008). Do youth learn life skills through their involvement in high school sport? A case study. *Canadian Journal of Education*, 31(2), 281-304. doi:10.2307/20466702
- Jones, M. I., Dunn, J. G. H., Holt, N. L., Sullivan, P. J., & Bloom, G. A. (2011). Exploring the '5Cs' of positive youth development in sport. *Journal of Sport Behavior*, *34*(3), 250-267.
- Jones, M. I., & Lavallee, D. (2009a). Exploring the life skills needs of British adolescent athletes. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *10*(1), 159-167. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2008.06.005
- Jones, M. I., & Lavallee, D. (2009b). Exploring perceived life skills development and participation in sport. *Qualitative Research in Sport and Exercise*, *1*(1), 36-50. doi:10.1080/19398440802567931
- Kendellen, K., & Camiré, M. (2015). Examining former athletes' developmental experiences in high school sport. *Sage Open*, *5*(4), 1-10. doi:10.1177/2158244015614379
- Larson, R. W. (2000). Toward a psychology of positive youth development. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 170-183. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.170
- Larson, R. W., Hansen, D. M., & Moneta, G. (2006). Differing profiles of developmental experiences across types of organized youth activities. *Developmental Psychology*, 42(5), 849-863. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.42.5.849
- Lerner, R. M., Fisher, C. B., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). Toward a science for and of the people: Promoting civil society through the application of developmental science. *Child Development*, 71(1), 11–20. doi:10.1111/1467-8624.00113
- MacDonald, D. J., Côté, J., & Deakin, J. (2010). The impact of informal coach training on the personal development of youth sport athletes. *International Journal of Sport Science and Coaching*, 5(3), 363-372. doi:10.1260/1747-9541.5.3.363

- MacDonald, D. J., Côté, J., Eys, M., & Deakin, J. (2012). Psychometric properties of the youth experience survey with young athletes. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *13*(3), 332-340. doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2011.09.001
- Martinek, T., Schilling, T., & Johnson, D. (2001). Transferring personal and social responsibility of underserved youth to the classroom. *The Urban Review*, *33*(1), 29-45. doi:10.1023/A:1010332812171
- McCallister, S. G., Blinde, E., & Weiss, W. M. (2000). Teaching values and implementing philosophies: Dilemmas of the youth sport coach. *Physical Educator*, *57*(1), 35-45.
- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. doi:10.4135/9781412995658
- National Research Council and Institute of Medicine (2002). *Community programs to promote* youth development (Washington, National Academy Press).
- Papacharisis, V., Goudas, M., Danish, S. J., & Theodorakis, Y. (2005). The effectiveness of teaching a life skills program in a sport context. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 17(3), 247-254. doi:10.1080/10413200591010139
- Petitpas, A. J., Cornelius, A. E., Van Raalte, J. L., & Jones, T. (2005). A framework for planning youth sport programs that foster psychosocial development. *The Sport Psychologist*, 19(1), 63-80.
- Petitpas, A. J., Van Raalte, J. L., Cornelius, A. E., & Presbrey, J. (2004). A life skills development program for high school student athletes. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, 24(3), 325-334. doi:10.1023/B:JOPP.0000018053.94080.f3
- Petlichkoff, L. M. (2004). Self-regulation skills for children and adolescents. In M. R. Weiss (Ed.), *Developmental sport and exercise psychology* (pp. 273-292). Morgantown, WV: Fitness Information Technology.
- Phelps, E., Zimmerman, S., Warren, A. E. A., Jelicic, H., von Eye, A., & Lerner, R. M. (2009). The structure and developmental course of Positive Youth Development (PYD) in early adolescence: Implications for theory and practice. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 30(5), 571-584. doi:10.1016/j.appdev.2009.06.003
- Roth, J., Brooks-Gunn, J., Murray, L., & Foster, W. (1998). Promoting healthy adolescents: Synthesis of youth development program evaluations. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 8(4), 423–459. doi:10.1207/s15327795jra0804_2

- Vella, S. A., Oades, L. G., & Crowe, T. P. (2013). The relationship between coach leadership, the coach–athlete relationship, team success, and the positive developmental experiences of adolescent soccer players. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy*, 18(5), 549–561. doi:10.1080/17408989.2012.726976
- World Health Organization (1999). *Partners in life skills education*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization, Department of Mental Health.
- Wright, A., & Côté J. (2003). A retrospective analysis of leadership development through sport. *The Sport Psychologist*, 17(3), 268–291.

APPENDICES

Appendix A

Interview Guide

A Qualitative Study of Athletes' Gained Life Skills Trough Sport in Retrospect

I start with thanking the participant for meeting with me. I review the purpose of the interview: to describe the skills athletes have learned through sport that may be useful for life. With a particular emphasis on how those skills can be used in non-sport settings and exploring the effect on athletes' daily lives. I do so to gain further understanding of those learned skills and how coaches and athletes could use them in a positive manner. I ask confirmed consent to participate, inform about the right to withdraw or not to answer a particular question, and permission for audio recording and/or note taking. I inform the participant about the right to say when something is 'off the record'. I turn on recording if permission is given and ask whether there are any questions.

Interview

I conduct the interview with an attitude that is open to hear your stories and your experiences. When appropriate I will follow your lead in exploring the topics of interest. The interview consists of four main parts but is still open to be taken into a specific more detailed direction.

DEMOGRAPHICS

- 1. Please verify whether this information is correct for use in the written report of the current study and identification of the data:
 - a. Name (Pseudonym)
 - b. Age
 - c. Sport
 - d. Contact details (email address/telephone number)

CAREER – WHEN START / HOW LONG / WHAT LEVEL

- 2. To start the interview, I would like to have a better understanding of your career path (up until now). Please tell me in detail how you got involved in speed skating?
- 3. Could you describe your speed skating career (up until now)?

[When the athlete did not specify the following, I ask the athlete:]

- a. How long have you been involved in speed skating?
- b. What were the most important events that happened in your sports career?
- c. What is the highest level you have actively competed in?
- d. What is the most important or highest achievement for you as a speed skater?
- 4. Besides being involved in speed skating, have you competed in other sports as well?
 - a. Which sport?
 - b. What level?

SKILLS LEARNED THROUGH SPORT THAT MAY BE USEFUL IN LIFE

- 5. I'm really interested in understanding more about what athletes might learn through sport and whether they found these skills useful. Can you tell me something about this?
- 6. Please describe what skills you learned as a competitive speed skater?
- 7. Please explain what have you learned from competing and training at that level, as a skater? As a person?
- 8. You mentioned what skills you have learned, now can you please describe how you have learned those skills?
 - a. Can you describe the role of others in this process? Think about your coach, parents, friends, peers in sport but also in school?
- 9. You mentioned that some skills you learned through speed skating have you found these skills useful in other domains? Think about education, work, (family) daily life?
 - a. Can you give me some examples of this? Could you elaborate a bit more on...?
 - b. Is this an automatic process, you don't really think about it but just do it?
 - c. Or do you use specific strategies to do so? Please tell me how these strategies work?
 - d. Have you thought about using skills learned from sport in other domains?

EFFECTS

10. We talked about the skills you have learned from sport and speed skating specifically.

Now, I'd like to go more in-depth on what it means for you to have those skills. *Can you*

say something about what it means for you to have skills that you can use in other areas besides sports?

- 11. Can you describe what the effect of those skills is on these areas you use them in?
 - a. Can you tell me something about positive (things) you have experienced from having those skills? Please give some (detailed) examples.
 - b. Can you tell me something about negative (things) you have experienced from having those skills? Please give some (detailed) examples.
 - c. Are there any pitfalls from having gained life skills from sports? Please illustrate this with examples.

ENDING INTERVIEW

12. One last question, we have talked about your career path, the skills you have learned along the way that you can use in other areas in your life and the effect those have. Do you have anything else that you want to share with me that is important to you relating to your sport experiences and life skills but we haven't talked about yet?

Thank you again for meeting with me and doing this interview with me. Once the interview data has been transcribed, you will be given a copy to verify all information.

Appendix B

Informed Consent

1. Title of the study

A Qualitative Study of Athletes' Gained Life Skills Trough Sport in Retrospect

2. Aim of the study

The aim of this study is to describe the life skills athletes have gained over their sports career. With a particular emphasis on how life skills are transferred into non-sport settings and exploring the effect on athletes' daily lives.

3. Description of research activities

You are asked to take part in one face-to-face interview with the researcher in which you will be asked to share your experiences with life skills through sport. It is anticipated that the interview will last for approximately 60 minutes.

Your permission is asked to record the interview with a digital voice recorder for research purposes. You will be given a copy of your transcribed interview to verify whether the data is complete and accurate. A second interview may be required when changes need to be applied.

4. Risks/ discomfort involved

As you are informed this interview is about gaining life skills through sport. This might elicit memories. If you feel uncomfortable at any point during this interview, you may decide not to answer the asked question or completely withdraw from the interview.

5. Expected impact

This study aims to describe the life skills gained by athletes throughout their sport career, how these life skills are transferred into non-sport settings, and what the impact may be on their daily lives. This study may provide valuable implications for coaches and athletes on how to gain the necessary life skills and use them in a positive manner.

6. Dissemination of results

To ensure anonymity, a pseudonym will be used to protect your identity. In addition, you will be given a copy of the transcribed interview to verify the accuracy of the given information.

7. Further Information

Do not hesitate to ask questions regarding the aim of this study or the implementation of study design. If you have any doubts or questions, please do ask for clarifications.

8. Freedom of consent

You are a volunteer participant. You are free to withdraw your consent now or later. In case you decide to withdraw from this research, please contact me at

bernadetteramaker@hotmail.com and any (recorded) data related to you will be deleted. **Participant's declaration**

I read this form and I understand the procedures involved. I agree to participate in this study.

Date://	
[Name and signature of	[Name and signature of
participant]	researcher]

Appendix C Thematic Map **DEVELOPMENT OF LIFE SKILLS** External factors Lifestyle Environment Coach Home **DEVELOPED LIFE SKILLS** Goal directed < behaviors Experienced qualities Organizational skills Positive Negative Awareness Coping Focus skills skills TRANSFERS OF LIFE SKILLS Strategies Contexts Academics ^D Conscious [™]Unconscious Work Other Daily life & Family